Listen T'o I'he
Mockingbird

The Life and Times of
a Pioneer Virginia Family

by

Daniel Dunbar Howe



COPYRIGHT 1%l by
LT. CoL. DANIEL DUNBAR HOWE, U.S.A., Retired

343 Tophill Road

San Antonio, Texas

PRINTED IN U.S.A. BY
CARR PUBLISHING COMPANY, INC.
Boyce, Virginia

iv



To those who dedicated their lives to others,

CAPTAIN JOHN THOMAS HOWE, C.S.A.
and SALLIE DEJARNETTE HOWE

To those who gave their lives for others, -

LIEUTENANT ELLIOTT HAMPTON HOWE
LIEUTENANT JOHN CLAY JONES



Foreword

The ensuing Virginia odyssey, impressive in scope and fasci-
nating in detail, affords the reader the rare privilege of following
the fortunes of a Virginia family from their arrival out of England
in the 1740's, into the earlier frontier settlements of the Valley,
thence through the Indian hazards, the Revolution, the Civil War,
to the present. Valuable in its personal record of the general move-
ments that have already become our country's history, the book is
particularly timely in its pres-entation of family details of the Civil
War, the present year marking the beginning of the centennial of
that event.

The main part of the narrative deals with the four years of
the conflict told largely from the standpoint of John Howe, the
writer's father, who left the old homestead at nineteen to volunteer
in what later became the Stonewall Brigade, where from green
farm boy trained under Stonewall Jackson's corps of V.M.I. cadets
to company commander at Chancellorsville, he shared the triumphs
and tragedies of war. In Pickett's charge at Gettysburg, wounded
and captured, the following months he spent in a Union prison, to
be released an exchange, for the final period of the conflict and
surrender with Lee's remnants at Appomattox. Reconstruction
days, small town boom times and the Gay Nineties, and the writ-
er's and his brother's experiences in the Argonne = officers in the
First World War bring the book t a close.

Factual, well documented, and coherent, with a considerable
collection of genealogical notes, the account makes a valuable con-
tribution to the Virginiana of our western counties.

The youngest son of Captain John and Sallie de Jarnette
Howe, Daniel Dunbar Howe, the author, was born an a farm near
Coffeyville, Kansas. Here the family had moved from the Old
Dominion in the trying days of 1884, seeking new fortunes in this
wheat farming section of the West. Returning to Southwest Vir-
ginia in 191 they established their home in the growing town of
Radford where the children had the advantage of the local Belle
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Heth Academy. On completing his work at this institution the
author in 1912 enrolled at nearby Virginia Polytechnic Institute,
where four years later he was graduated with a Bachelor of Science
degree in Civil Engineering.

Entering the Regular Army when war clouds began to gather,
in 1916, as second lieutenant of infantry, with further training at
Fort Leavenworth, he sailed with the Fifth Division for service
overseas in World War L Attaining the rank of captain, engaged in
trench warfare along numerous sectors of the front, severely
wounded in the final great battle of the Argonne, after the Armis-
tice and hospitalization, he returned to the Army, serving in vari-
ous posts in this country and a tour of duty in the Philippines.
Retired for physical disability, in 1941, with the rank of lieutenant-
colonel, he now makes his home in San Antonio, Texas.

DANIEL A. CANNADAY

Associate Professor of History,
Radford College,

Member of State Commission for
Preparation of Textbooks in Virginia
History for the Public Schools, and
Chairman of the Civil War Centennial
Commission for the City of Radford.
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Preface

In writing this book I have sought to present a candid and
true life picture of a pioneer Virginia family, and to tell this story
against the ever-changing background of the American scene over
more than two centuries of time. In doing 0 I have been moved
by that worthy desire of civilized man to learn of the history and
deeds of his ancestors, and to record these events and their accomp-
lishments for the benefit of posterity. I believe that the high spirit
with which they met the adversities of life and their ever-present
will for achievement deserves the acclaim and emulation of future
generations.

A paragraph from the book, "The Family of Hoge" by James
Hoge Tyler and James Fulton Hoge, deserves repeating here: "It
is a callous soul that takes ro interest in the history of the past,
and especially of the doings and sayings of those through whose
veins course his own blood. Daniel Webster said, "The man who
feels o sentiment of veneration for the memory of his forefathers,
who has mo natural regard for his ancestors, a his kindred, is
himself unworthy of kindred regard ar remembrance.’ "

It has not been possible to veach all potential sources of ma-
terial, especially in regard to some branches of the family whose
ancestors seemed to be few and difficult to trace. But ,every effort
has been made to learn something of the history of the various
Howe branches and, especially of Joseph Howe, progenitor of the
Howes of Virginia. It was only through exhaustive research by
Charles Kent Howe, extending over a period of several years, that
something of his early life in the northern part of the Virginia
colony and association there with Georgie Washington, the young
surveyor, was revealed. It appears that these documented histori-
cal facts were unknown to past generations since nothing of that
part of the lifie of Joseph Howe has been found in the Howe aor
Hoge records. The difficulties encountered in unearthing valuable
family history makes ever more apparent the desirability of carry-
ing an a record of ,events, traditions and worthy deeds from gen-
eration to generation. It is regrettable that the importance of gath-
ering this information at the source is not realized until those who
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The first Howe homestead in Southwest Virginia. It was built by Joseph Howe
one of the earliest settlers of Back Creek, about 1767-'70.



Chapter I

AN EPISODE EAST OF THE MEUSE

In the hazy light of the early autumn morning khaki clad
figures could be seen making their way through the Bois de
Consenvoye, a wilderness area two miles east of the Meuse River.
The wet leaves and sodden ground silenced movement underfoot
but the air overhead vibrated with the whine of rifle and machine
gun bullets. From time to time bursts of high ,explosive shells sent
a spray of deadly metal fragments screaming through the under-
brush.

It was shortly after dawn on the morning of October 11, 1918
The 29th "Blue and Grey" Division had jumped off at daylight
with the mission of extending the extreme right flank of the
American forces in the great Meuse-Argonne battle and driving
the Germans in this sector back on the fortress of Metz. Company
M, 116th Infantry, as a part of this operation, was advancing to
the attack.

The first platoon had just reached a favorable position for a
temporary halt when a German 77-mm high explosive shell
whizzed through the dripping branches and exploded with a
vicious bang a short distance from Lieutenant Howe, leading the
platoon. When the smoke had partially lifted Sergeant Charles
Farmer, platoon sergeant, saw that his commanding officer had
been hurled into a shallow ditch nearby and was lying there face
downward. The sergeant, followed by his assistant, Sergeant
Homer Alley, ran to the lieutenant's side and together they lifted
him to his knees but he apparently was unable to rise. As he
grasped the arm of Sergeant Farmer he looked up at him with a
quizzical smile on his face and inquired, "Am I hit?"

Sergeant Farmer made a reassuring reply but there was no
response. The smile gradually faded from Lieutenant Howe's face
and he rielaxed his grip on the sergeant's arm and sank back on
the ground. Further efforts to arouse him were to no avail.

1



2 LISTEN TO THE MOCKINGBIRD

Sergeant Farmer immediately sent for first aid, and then
seeing Captain Barksdale approaching, called out, "They've got
Lieutenant Howe!"

The captain turned and ran back for the battalion medical
officer who was already on his way forward but Licutenant Howe
- better known among his intimate companions of Mexican Bor-
der days as "Ellet" or "Bull Snake" - was beyond earthly aid.
A large chunk of steel had torn into the small of his back near the
kidneys breaking the spine. His life blood was already oozing from
the jagged hole. Mercifully, the shock was so great that any s.ense
of pain was completely deadened. After the first puzzled inquiry
he never spoke again. He breathed his last even before the medical
officer could reach his side. Thus did Lieutenant Howe, beloved by
all his men and others alike who knew him, meet his ,end on the
battlefield of France. He would never know that at almost this
very hour orders were on the way from GHQ promoting him to
the rank of captain.

His body was wrapped in an army blanket, placed near a road
crossing in the vicinity and covered with a shelter half, while
khaki clad comrades continued the relentless advance through the
smoke-filled woods to the tune of rumbling gunfir,e.

When the smoke of battle had cleared away the regimental
chaplain and his assistants buried the body in a temporary grave
near the spot where he fell, in the Bois de Consenvoye, a few miles
northeast of village of Brabant. They placed a white wooden cross
at the head of the grave and on this attached his metal identifica-
tion disk. It bore the inscription:

1st Lieut. ELLIOTT HAMPTON HOWE
Co. M 116th Infantry, U.S.A.

After the war the remains of Lieutenant Howe were recovered
from this wooded retreat and returned to America, to be buried
in the family plot with full military honors. This was at his long
standing request, made when he set out for France, and it was
also the wishes of his wife and family. In the event of death in
battle he had expressed the desire to be laid to rest in the soil of
Virginia among the home folk he loved so well, and near wh,ere
rested his ancestors.



Chapter 1I

THE LAND OF HIS ANCESTORS
A BIT OF HISTORY

Lieutenant Elliott Howe, late of the 116th Infantry, was born
in a farm house on Roanoke River about four miles east of Blacks-
burg. The Howes lived here for a short time around the beginning
of the eighties. His mother was of French Huguenot and English
stock, and his father was of English origin. Their union joined
two of the old Virginia families, the Howes of Southwest Virginia
and the De Jarnettes* of Caroline County, in the eastern part of
the state.

The first Howe to take root in the soil of Virginia was Joseph.
Through the years there has been speculation among the Howe
descendants regarding his English ancestry. The late ex-Governor
James Hoge Tyler, a great-great-grandson of Joseph Howe and one
of the best authorities of his time on the Howe and Hoge families,
in writing of the Howe lineage, refers to Joseph Howe as a cousin
of Lord George Augustus Howe, 3rd Viscount, who was killed at
Ticondaroga in 1758, and of Admiral Richard Howe, 4th Viscount,
who in the war of the American Revolution commanded the British
naval forces, and General William Howe, who succeeded to the
title, and who, in the same war, at one time commanded the British
armies.

The chief source of the late Governor Tyler's writings is be-
lieved to have been the meager records at Sunnyside and the word
of mouth stories passed down from the older generations. In his
writings he further states that on Joseph Howe's trip to America
he met Eleanor Dunbar, a Scotch lass, whom he married soon after
arriving in Boston, near which they resided for a time.

We now know that Joseph Howe reached the Northern Vir-
ginia frontier as early as 1749 for his activities in this region are
recorded in George Washington's Journal of land surveys made

*See Note I on Page 345.



4 LISTEN TO THE MOCKINGBIRD

along the Lost River of the Cacapehon, the latter part of that year.
During November, 1749, George Washington surveyed about ten
tracts of land of 300 to 400 acres each, taking in Lost River Valley
(now Hardy County, W. Va.) from the present town of Lost River
o the post office at Bakier, a distance of about six miles. (see map
page 5). This land was securied by grant from Lord Fairfax, who
owned a vast acreage in this section of the Virginia colony. Those
securing the grants were Joseph How, John Dunbarr, Baker,
Scott, McBride, Collins and others.

These first settlers of Lost Riveer Valley mo doubt came up
the South Branch of the Potomac and crossed the mountains about
five miles south to Camp Branch. One of the Washington surveys
mentions this road near the creek that "leads to South Branch."
Very likely they camped on this creek near its junction with Lost
River while George Washington was making the surveys, hence
the name, "Camp Branch." As there were m settlements in this
virgin territory it is evident that these pioneers had their wives
and families with them and lived grouped together in a temporary
camp for self protection.

The record attests that Joseph How accompanied George
Washington on the survey of his tract of land and assisted by mark-
ing the trees that were designated by the young surveyor as the
boundary line and corner trees of the land grant. The land surveys
are recorded in detail in Washington's diary, in which he recounts
his day by day experience through the Lost River region.*

History records that as a young man George Washington be-
came acquainted with the Fairfax family, from whom he obtained
employment as a surveyor of large tracts of territory in the rich
valley of the Allegheny Mountains of Northern Virginia. It was
while engaged in this work (1748-1749) that he completed the sur-

"'Reference The Library of Congress. - Washington's Journal, having to
do with a "Journey Over the Mountains,” in which, pg. 84 is the following:

"November 7, 1749 - Then Survey'd for Josh How a certain tract of Waste
and ungranted land lyinﬁ in Augusta County on the Lost River of the Caca-
ehon and bounded as followeth: Beginning at the corner of the land Survey'd
or James Scott a Hickory red Oak and Maple on the Mountain side and running
thence along the Mountain N 35 E Two Hundred and Six Poles to two white
Oaks and Maple on the Mountain side and thence leaving the Mountain and
run thence N 55 W @ Po (and) Three Hundred poles to Red Oak Chestnut Oak
and Hictory on the Mountain side and thence S 3 W two Hundred and six
poles to a large white Oak James Scott corner thence with his line S 5 E
Three Hundred Poles to the Beg."

Josh How M: Plat Drawn

(The "M" following name of Josh How, stands for "Marker"; the
one who marked the line and corner trees - two notches for the
line trees and three notches for the corners.)
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The writer and his brother traversed the section of the country
from Winchester west to the county seat of Hardy County, W. Va.,
seeking historical data and examining historical landmarks. The
land grants of the settlers whose names are given were plotted on
the old geographical survey map by C. K Howe from the survey
data taken and recorded by George Washington in his diary.
George Washington was scarcely 18 years of age at this time and
it is believed this was his first work as a public surveyor.



6 LISTEN TO THE MOCKINGBIRD

veys for Joseph How, John Dunbarr and others. The young sur-
veyor lived in the homes of the settlers as he worked his way
through the trackless wilderness. In the Washington diary of this
period some of his experiences are recounted. He gratefully refers
to the hospitality of the settlers who made room for him in their
homes, (plain hand-hewn log cabins were the only homes known
at this time in the undeveloped mountain region) sometimes so
crowded that the guests had to sleep on a deer skin in front of the
hearth on the living room floor. Should the log dwellings of
Joseph Howe, John Dunbarr and those of the other early settlers
of this region be found still standing one might in all seriousness
refer to them with that trite phrase, "Georg,e Washington once
slept here."

There are, also, numerous references to Joseph How in the
Augusta County Abstracts by Chalkley. They appear to be taken
from old court records and concern the taking of title to land,
witness to wills and other legal matters of common occurrence.
Chalkley's earliest reference is that of May 24, 1750, which states,
"Joseph How is directed to set up posts, and keep them set, on the
road up the Catawba to the New River Ridge." (This was the site
of the Draper's Meadows settlement, now Blacksburg). Those se-
lected to accompany him were John Elswick, Andrew Viney, John
Dunbarr, William McBride, Robert Denton, James Thomas, James
Scott, James Hamilton, Wm. Moller and Valentine Sevier. Most
of these were the same men for whom George Washington sur-
vieyed land during November, 1749. It is presumed that the John
Dunbarr mentioned here, and in the Washington surveys, was
either Joseph Howe's father-in-law or closely related to Eleanor
Dunbar Howe, wife of Joseph. This would tend to corroborate the
tradition that Joseph Howe and the Dunbar family came to Ameri-
ca on the same boat and that Joseph and Eleanor were married in
Boston shortly before migrating to the Virginia colony.

It might be presumed that Joseph Howe and James Hoge first
became acquainted in this section of the Virginia colony. At this
time the senior James Hoge resided with his large family near
Opequon Church outside of Frederick Town (now Winchester,
Frederick County, Va.). Hampshire County adjoins Frederick on
the west. The early settlers in their trek to the west journeyed
over the mountains by way of Frederick Town, following the only
well beaten trail that led by Opequon Church to the Cacapehon
Valley some 40 miles distant. Since this region was sparcely set-
tled, that the Hoge and Howe families enjoyed some degree of
acquaintanceship is most probable. The Hoges had long been resi-
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dents of the Frederick Town area, which is further attested by cer-
tain geographical names found in the region that are associated
with the family. For instance, referring to an old map of Frederick
and Hampshire Counties, running northwestward along the trail
(now the state highway) about seven miles out of Frederick Town
is Hogue (Hoge) Creek. One mile further is Hayfield, and three
miles further north is a stream called Back Creek. Such familiar
names not only indicate that the Hoges were pioneer settlers of
Frederick County but it provides evidence that James Hoge must
have been the settler who transplanted thos,e names to Southwest
Virginia, as will be seen from the following related incidents.

It is recounted in the book - The Family of Hoge - that
"**James Hoge, who was the progenitor of the Hoges of South-
west Virginia, left his father's home in Frederick County in search
of his elder brother, John, who was supposed to have been killed
at Fort Duquesne. He failed to find his brother and wended his
way up the Valley of Virginia, and finally found his home and
wife, and was married at the old Howe homestead.***" In the
latter part of the narrative there is a considerable period of time
in the life of James Hoge that is unaccounted for. It is now known
from documented evidence that the trek to Southwest Virginia
and marriage at Sunnyside did not occur until a number of years
after the disastrous encounter with the French and Indians at
Fort Duquesne during which John Hoge was lost in battle. In the
interim young James Hoge's wanderings are problematical, But
there appears little doubt that he was in Friederick County for some
years after the brief absence in search of his brother and, as pre-
viously told, this afforded ample opportunity for him to become
acquainted with Joseph Howe's daughter, Elizabeth. It is highly
probable that this attachment was the inspiration that sent
him over the trail that Joseph Howe later traveled with
his family, up the Valley of Virginia and into the wild territory
west of New Riv,er. Here he was to find his teen-age sweetheart
awaiting him, and they were married within the year of his arrival
on Back Creek. James Hoge built his home a short distance up the
creek from the new Howe homestead and named it "Hayfield" for
one of the familiar landmarks in his own Frederick County. It is
reasonable to assume that he may have given the stream on which
he and Elizabeth Howe Hoge were to begin their new life the name
of "Back Creek" for another landmark he had known in his youth.

It is believed that while living in Northern Augusta County
Joseph Howe had his first military experience under the command
of George Washington, about 1751. It was that year when the
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northern frontier became o threatened by the hostile French and
Indians that the militia was ordered put in a state of readiness. All
able-bodied men of military age welle considered a part of the
militia, and military training and duties - principally the building
of forts and stockades and fighting off Indian raids - went hand
in hand with the normal pioneering activities incident to opening
the wilderness country o settlement. Major Washington, so history
states, had in the meanwhile prepared himself in the science of
military tactics and was placed in charge of the defensivie prepara-
tions of this district with headquarters in Frederick Town.

There are historical markers on the sites of several old forts
in the Valley of the Cacapehon and the Lost River Valley, to the
west of Winchester, each giving some details of a battle fought
between the American frontiersmen and the French and Indians
during the ,early part of the French and Indian War. A marker
near Wardensville states that George Washington laid out land
near here in 1749, and that the following year a fight with the
Indians took place in which a number of the settlers were Killed.
Another marker, on a fort site several miles above Baker, called
"Fort Riddle," states that Captain Jeremiah Smith with his com-
pany of 50 frontiersmen was engaged in a battle here with the
French and Indians in 1756. It is believed that Joseph Howe, John
Dunbarr, Warden, Scott, McBride and other settlers of Lost River
Valley were living within the confines of Fort Riddle at this time
and, therefore, took part in this engagement. It is regrettable that
the details of these campaigns and the names of participants were
not recorded.

The forts along the river provided the only protection for the
settlers and their families while opening up the virgin territory
o settlement. It appears that the pioneers were given land and
then requiried to build forts and stockades and fight to hold their
possessions against the hostile Indians and make the country safe
for additional settlers. This gives a general picture of the French
and Indian warfare that was a part of the daily life of Joseph Howe
for a number of years in the northern part of the Virginia colony.
It is certain that he and his companion vigilantes had frequent
conferences with George Washington in the fiield, s well as di-
rectives from their superior officer's headquarters in Frederick
Town. The crudely constructed rock house which Major Washing-
ton used as his headquarters during this period is now a famous
historical shrine of Winchester.

Tending to corroborate the part played by Joseph Howe in the
French and Indian War, there was preserved for a long time at
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the old home place on Back Creek a curious metal tag taken from
the nose of an Indian warrior Kkilled at one of these frontier
forts. These tags werie furnished by the French to the Indians and
were to distinguish them as friendly to the French cause. Circum-
stances point to the battle at Fort Riddle on Lost River, in 1756,
as the most likely place and date of this incident.

There is no official record available of Joseph Howe's further
service in the French and Indian War but it is believed to have
been continuous until the end of hostilities, about 1763. It was not
a well regulated war in which statistics and records were kept. Of
the nature of the desultory conflict in this region Julia Davis in
her book - T h e Shenandoah - says, "****The French and Indian
wars werie not continuous. There were in the Valley no pitched
battles, no lines of men opposing one another. The victims of the
conflict were not soldiers, but old men, farmers, pregnant women,
babies. The Indians appearied out of the silence, in daylight, struck,
and disappeared, struck again, and vanished. Not twice in the same
place, sometimes not twice in the same year, but often enough
keep the terror living, to keep the people 'forted up'.***"

And o the first years in America were for Joseph Howe years
of war or an armed, anxious interlude during which he and the
pioneers about him remained ever alert and on call to the military
commander of the district. For more than a decade his constantly
increasing family was always within the protecting shadow of the
stockades, and so well were they "forted up" that none ever fell
victim to the prowling, bloodthirsty savages. The story has been
handed down from past generations that for his services in the war
George Washington presented him with a sword, elaborately dec-
orated with silver. It was said that years later a great-grand-
daughter had the silver melted from the sword and made into a
cup for her infant son.

Joseph Howe had his first view of the Southwest Virginia
country when he was engaged in blazing the Catawba trail in 1750,
(as previously stated in the Chalkley Abstracts). There were mo
doubt other occasions when he had © journey southward over this
route of the early pioneers that led to Draper's Meadows and the
banks of New River. During these trips he became acquainted with
the wild, scenic country lying west of the river in what is now
Pulaski County and decided that here was where he wanted to live.
In May, 1767, he made a trip to New River to arrange for the move
o Southwest Virginia. He returned to Hampshirie County in Aug-
ust for the purpose of disposing of his land holdings there, and the
trek to Southwest Virginia with his family was made in the late
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summer of 1767.*

In early colonial times a journey of some 200 miles over primi-
tive roads and trails with a large family was a hazardous under-
taking. One can only imagine some of the difficulties that confront-
ed a man and wife with six young children as they laboriously
made their way over the wilderness trails. At this time Rebecca
was a baby of two, Daniel was a lad of nine, John was 14 and the
eldest girl, Elizabeth, was just turning 16 and besides there were
two younger daughters, ages unknown. A covered wagon or two
and a few head of livestock probably made up-the caravan that
lumbered slowly along over the ungraded jungle roads at the rate
of 18 or 20 miles per day. They cooked, ate and slept in the open
with only their covered wagons for refuge against the dangers of
hostile Indians, wild animals and the natural elements. The soli-
tude of the long, lonesome nights was broken only by an occasional
crash of a bear through the underbrush or the howl of a lonely
wolf or the spine-chilling wail of a wildcat. Surely a feeling of
great relief came over Joseph and Eleanor Howe, and there were
shouts of joy from the children, as after days of hazardous travel
the tired little band came over the hill and sighted the green valley
with its clear, blue meandering stream and the cozy log home o
its banks that awaited them. (It is pllesumed he had built some
sort of temporary log abode here at the time of making the trek
alone to the section earlier in the year, when he secured the grant
of this land.)

It has been said that Joseph Howe was one of the first three
permanent settlers west of New River, and that James Hoge came
a little later.:™ As previously told, James and Elizabeth Howe Hoge
married about a year later, in 1768 and they established their
home on an adjacent farm which they called "Hayfield".

When Hayfield became the inheritance of James Hoge Tyler,

*Reference court records Hampshire County, W. Va., Deed Book No. 2,
page 18 "August 7, 1767, Joseph How and Eleanor How released land to
William Smith, merchant of the city of Philadelphia and Provence of Pennsyl-
vania, 386 acres. Sealed and delivered in the presence of: Ja. Keith, Pet. Hoge,
Luke Collins, W. Rannells and John Lyne."

The description of the tract of land shown in this deed corresponds to
the George Washington survey recorded in prior footnote.

The disposal of the land on Lost River and trek to Southwest Virginia,
August, 1767, is also referred to in the Augusta County Abstracts by Chalkley.

There is also recorded in the Hampshire County court records a deed
showing the transfer of land by John and Ann Dunbarr.

**The History of the Middle New River Settlements,, page 32, says, "About
the year 1758 Joseph Howe, and a little later James Hoge settled in Back Creek
Valley." The year, however, should be 1767, according to authentic documents
heretofore quoted.
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a great-grandson of James Hoge, he renamed the place "Belle
Hampton" in honor of his two eldest daughters, Belle Norwood
and Sue Hampton. In writing of the original home, the late ex-
Governor James Hoge Tyler said, "The old hous,e (Hayfield) stood
in the corner of the present garden at the spot which I marked
with a pyramid of rocks taken from its foundation.** This house
was still standing in my earliest recollection. Though of plain
hewn logs, it was a remarkable structure for its day. My grand-
father said that persons had ridden all the way from Tazewell
County to see it. The brick house was built by General James Hoge,
my grandfather, in 1826, and at that time was the first brick house
within a hundred miles."

Tradition has it that Joseph Howe first built his home, which
he called "Sunny Side," on the south side of Back Creek, on a knoll
near the present west boundary line. A spring, one of the main
requirements of a suitable home site in early times, flows from the
base of the knoll into the creek. A few years later a mor,e substan-
tial log house was built about a mile down the creek, on the north
side of the stream.

Joseph Howe was a devoutly religious man, as were the other
settlers on Back Creek, and all were followers of the Presbyterian
faith of their ancestors. Consequently one of the first concerns of
these pioneers was the establishment of a place of worship. While
planning for this, the spiritual needs of the families were met by
conducting religious services according to their own fashion in one
home after another about the community. Meanwhile plans were
made for the building of a centrally located church and the secur-
ing of an ordained minister of the gospel to take charge and con-
duct regular Sunday services. In 1769, records disclose, the New
Dublin church was founded by Joseph Howe, Samuel Coleville,
John Taylor, Samuel Clay and James Montgomery. It is one of
the oldest Protestant churches and probably the oldest Presbyter-
ian church west of the Alleghany Mountains. Joseph Cloyd, an-
other of the early settlers on Back Creek, gave the land on which
the first log church and manse was built, two miles west of the
present town of Dublin. The first minister, the Reverend John
Craig, was paid 45 pounds for his support, given equally by the
settlers. The name, New Dublin, was suggested by two brothers
named Reed who aided in the erection of the church. They were
Irish Presbyterians then living at the small Irish settlement, New

"*0On searching for the pyramid of rocks on a recent date the writer was
informed that they had been removed in later years and used to build the
new gateway to Belle Hampton.
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Dublin (a settlement that has long since passed from the scene), at
that time located on the Stagecoach road between Ingles Ferry and
Newbern.

Joseph Howe was to live a long and contented life, constantly
adding to his simple frontier home additional cleared acres for
needed crops, vineyards and orchards and accumulating more live
stock and other assets through the years.

Joseph and Eleanor Dunbar Howe had three sons and four
daughters. Of the sons, Joseph, Jr. is believed to have died at an
early age as nothing further is known of him. John was an active
business man, engaged largely in the acquisition of wild lands by
survey and grant in the early years of the settlements along the
tributaries of New Riv,er. He made a survey and obtained a grant
of 400 acres of land on Bush Creek, near where the town of Prince-
ton is now located. He married Mary Ann - (last name not known)
and they and their family of seven child en later migrated to Ken-
tucky. It is recorded that he was living in Greenup County in 1833,
at the age of 8 the oldest Revolutionary War soldier in that sec-
tion. Daniel, the youngest son, remained at the old home place on
Back Creek and more will be told of him later.

O the daughters, Elizabeth, the eldest, married James Hoge
and they settled on Back Creek, as has been recounted. Eleanor
married George Pearis, and Ann married Robert Pearis, a brother,
two years younger than George. Rebecca, the youngest daughter,
married John Deay (Daye). They later moved with their family to
Tennessee, and from there to Kentucky, about 1810. Rebecca Howe
Deay died in 1856 at the age of 91, and was said to be the last widow
of a Revolutionary War soldier to die in Kentucky. The Pearis bro-
thers were Huguenots whose family had originally settled near Par-
ris Island, South Carolina, from whom that place and the present
day great Marine Training Base, take their names. The brothers had
at this time taken up life on New River with a sister, Mrs. Samuel
Pepper, for whom the first established crossing of New River in
this region and the ro3d leading thereto were named. The old
Pepper home still stands on the west side of the river opposite the
late Edgar Eskridge plaoce. The house, however, would not be rec-
ognized as an ancient one for the original logs are covered by more
modern construction. It was while living here that the Pearis boys
started the courtship of Joseph Howe's daughters which ended in
marriage for both brothers.

Captain George Pearis and Eleanor Howe were married the
winter of 1771 and he remained in the vicinity of Pepper's Ferry
until 1782, when he moved down the river to the fertile bottom
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lands on which Pearisburg, the county seat of Giles, was laid off
and named for him. Two years before this move his wife died, soon
after his return from a campaign against the Tories in the neigh-
borhood of the Shallow Ford of the Yadkin in North Carolina.
During the campaign he was seriously wounded by a musket ball
in the shoulder.*

It is probable that Eleanor Howe Pearis, the first of the Howe
family to die in Southwest Virginia, was buried in the old Pepper
burying ground at Pepper's Ferry for this graveyard is the oldest
one known in the region west of New River and antedates the
Sunnyside burial plot by a number of years. Another supposition
is that her remains were removed to Pearisburg and interred be-
side her husband.

About 1790 Robert Pearis moved with his family to Kentucky
where it is said he founded the town of Paris, the county seat of
Bourbon County, named in his honor. A son was in the state Legis-
lature for several years.** It was here during this period that the
first spirits were distilled from corn. This whisroey was locally
called "Bourbon" for the name of the county. After many years,
when its fame had spread, all liquor of a corn content of fifty per-
cent or more became known throughout the world as bourbon
whiskey.

No attempt has been made to follow the fortunes of the des-
cendants of these families further. Though the Pearis name may
have largely disappeared, imperishable monuments to the family
exist in many parts of the eastern portion of the country in the
towns bearing the name Paris, commonly believed named for the
first city of France but actually, in many cases, in honor of some
member of this Fflench family of Pearis who were once such active
pioneers in Southwest Virginia.

Joseph Howe lived to a ripe old age. Very little has been hand-
ed down in regard to his personal appearance and characteristics,
but he was known as a courtly and elegant gentleman of adventur-
ous spirit. He died in 1790. The exact date of his death is not known
but the fact that his will was probated on September the 7th of that
year indicates that his death occurred near the first week of aut-
umn. His will, bearing the unique phraseology peculiar to those
early times, is quoted verbatim:

*History of the Middle New River Settlements, Page 415, the Howe family
and Page 444, the Pearis family.

**This is a tradition handed down in the Pearis-Howe records. However,
the writer was unable to confirm this part of the story, so it is believed the
name of Paris, Kentucky came from some other source.
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"In the name of God, Amen - I, Joseph Howe, of the
County of Montgomery, being of perfect mind and memory
and calling to mind the uncertainty of life and that it is ap-
pointed for all men once to die, therefore, first of all I recom-
mend my spirit unto God that gave it and my body to the
Earth, trusting and believing through the mercy of God and
the complete satisfaction of Jesus Christ, my redeemer, © e
ceive it at the general resurrection. And what worldly estate
it hath pleasied God in his providence to Bless me with, I order
to be disposed of in the following manner: First of all, I do
direct that my E-xecutor, Daniel Howe, shall keep and main-
tain my dearly beloved wife, Eleanor Howe, for during her
natural life, decently and well.

And as | have a judgment against a certain James Smith
of the County of Lincoln, for the sum of 77 pounds, which I do
bequeath to my two sons, John Howe and Daniel Howe. I give
o my son, Daniel, my four work horses and six head more,
viz: The English mare, named Lucy, one dark bay mare
named, Kentucky, and one hog backed mare and colt and
twenty three head of cattle, my wagon, the whole of my house-
hold furniture, with my farming utensils and other tools, with
the whole of my stock of sheep and hogs.

To son, John, one bay yearling filly, three head of cattle
o be given by Joseph Cloyd and my son, Daniel, out of the
residue of my stock

To grandson, Joseph Howe, one spring colt. To my son-
in-law, John Deay, one sorrel mare and three head of cattle.
Also to my grandson, Joseph Deay, one horse colt. To my son-
in-law, Robert Pearis, one two year old colt and two head of
cattle.

I appoint my two sons, John and Daniel, as executors
and order them to make title to Richard Chapman to 260 acres
of land on Wolf Creek.

Signed June 26th, 1790, in the presence of:

John Taylor Joshua Daye
Fanny Alsup Katherine Dock

Probated at Montgomery County Court the 7th day of
September, 1790.

Lincoln County, referred to in the judgment against a certain
James Smith, was at that time one of the distant counties of the
state, near the Ohio River border, and now a part of West Virginia.

The first son, Joseph Howe, Jr. is not mentioned in the will,
and this appears t be further evidence that he died at an early
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age. That o mention is made of the other son-in-law, George
Pearis, is explained by the fact that his wife, Eleanor Howe Pearis,
had died and he had remarried before the provisions of this will
werie made.

The grandson, Joseph Howe, mentioned in the will was the
first son of John, a lad of seven at this time.

According to old English law and custom, adherred to in this
country at this time, the family estate habitually reverted to the
first son. However, since the first son was deceased and the next
in line had established a home ,elsewhere, Daniel Howe, the young-
est son, an the death of his father became the new squire of Sunny-
side.



Chapter III

A ROMANCE OF THE REVOLUTION

Daniel Howe of Sunnyside first saw military service at an
early age when, at 18 he enlisted for one month in the Montgom-
ery County militia, in 1776. He served short terms yearly from
this time until the end of the war. Captain Burke was in command
of his first company, one of the units in the organization of Major
Cloyd. Colonel William Preston of Smithfield was commandant of
the district, then known as the military district of Fincastle. This
district embraced Montgomery County, a county which at this
early period included within its boundaries a vast area of the
Southwest Virginia frontier extending as far south as the North
Carolina border. Following the first tour of duty he served for a
month under Captain Taylor. A third tour of duty was served in
1777 or '78, at which time Daniel Howe himself was a subaltern
and then captain of the company.* The next three years he was on
regular tours of duty for stated periods of time, a customary pro-
cedure in the remote farm areas, his active service ending with the
close of hostilities, in 1781 **

It was during the last year of his active service that Captain
Daniel Howe, with the Montgomery County militia, took part in
General Greene's Guilford campaign of March, 1781. In the spring
of that year, with the British invasion of Western North Carolina,
the Montgomery County militia and other available troops in the
area were ordered south to assist General Greene in repelling the
invader. At this time General Greene was maneuvering against
the foroes of Cornwallis south of the North Carolina border near

*He was referred to in later life as "Major" Daniel Howe, having attained
the higher rank in the peacetime militia.

**From the declaration of Daniel Howe on file in the Pension Office,
Washington, D. C. Sworn to in Montgomery County court, October, 1832. This
statement of service, made after more than 3 years, is necessarily rather
general.

17
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the Yadkin River, in the area around Guilford Court House. There
occurred several meeting engagements, one at Culp's Mill on
March 2nd, and at Whitesell's Mill on March 6th there was a hotly
contested battle. Finally, on March 7th the British commander
moved further west, and four days later General Greene prepared
to give him batHe. He disposed his troops on the Sailsbury Road
with 300 regulars on either flank to give stability to the militia.
His total force of 4400 regulars and militiamen was facing about
2200 British. The Virginia militia under Lawson occupied a posi-
tion in a woodland at the center rear. The fighting that day was
severe, and Greene being threatened by additional forces from
the rear was forced to withdraw. The American losses were 14
officers and 312 troops killed and wounded. The British suffered
more severiely, leaving 93 dead on the field in addition to the more
than 500 wounded.

That Captain Daniel Howe had a part in this campaign is dis-
closed by a claim filed in the Montgomery County Court of Vir-
ginia in session April 2, 1782, which states as follows: "Daniel
Howe same one blanklet and a half . ... bay horse lost by him in the
service before the battle of Reedy Fork (Whitesell's Mill) in North
Carolina in March '81, and that he ought to be paid for the
same ... "™

During the years of hostilities when Captain Howe was not
engaged in active campaigns on distant frontiers he was detailed
at times to observe the activities of known Tories in the country
adjacent to his home base and to place under arrest those who
appeared to be endangering the common cause. This phase of his
military duty led to an ,episode that had a profound bearing on his
later life. This is the gist of the story that has been handed down
from past generations:

Dawn was breaking and the welcomed rays of a cheerful May
sun were pushing their way gently through the treetops along the
hills to the east as Captain Daniel Howe mounted his horse and
rode away from Sunnyside. A cavalry saber, primarily a badge of
office, hung in a scabbard from his saddle.* He was dressed in
coarse hunting shirt and buckskin brieeches, the habitual attire of a
militiaman of Colonial Virginia. The serious expression about nor-
mally friendly blue eyes indicated that his mission was not a
pleasant one. Inside his shirt was a warrant for the arrest of one

*Annals of Southwest Virginia by Summers. Edition 1929, pg. 764.

*The saber is now in the possession of Daniel Dunbar Howe, given to him
by Mrs. Agnes Howe De Jarnette a few years prior to her death.
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Howard Haven, a Tory sympathizer, if not an avowed enemy of
his country. On two previous occasions the offender had escaped
him. The third time he must not come away empty handed.

Topping the rise at the rim of the vallLey the lone rider drew
rein and leisurely turned to gaze back across the fertile farmlands.
For a moment his thoughts reverted to the past four years. Now
a campaign-hardened veteran, he was only a lad in his teens, he
mused, when in '76 he joined the military forces of his country and
rode away to confront the dangers of the frontier. His mother had
grieved to see him leave home at such an immature age. But, like
all mothers, she could not realize that he was now old enough to
take a man's part in the fight for independence; nor could she
know what it meant to him to shoulder a musket and with fron-
tiersmen like Burke, Taylor, McCorkle, Cloyd and others share in
the thrilling experiences that far away places have to offer those
of venturesome spirit. Now that these eventful years had passed it
seemed that fate had nothing in store for him but a humdrum life
alone among the peaceful hills and green meadows of Back Creek.
But after all one can never tell what fate has to offer! Expanding
his chest with a deep breath of the fresh morning air, he wheeled
his horse about and set off over the forest road that led to Pepper's
Ferry and the home of Howard Haven around the eastern bend of
the river beyond.

The latter part of the morning the lone horseman, Pepper's
Ferry now several miles to his rear, was jogging along the river
bottom road in deep thought when his meditations were interrupt-
ed by a young feminine voice softly singing "Barbara Allen." He
was in front of the farm home of Howard Haven and the voice was
that of a little girl who sang with sweet and plaintive rhythm to
the gentle gliding of a swing that hung from a limb of a large
spreading apple tree that stood in the front yard. He paused in
admiration for a brief moment while she completed her song and
brought the swing to a gradual stop.

To his salutation she came to the gate and with a friendly
smile, said, "Won't you hitch your horse and come in?" As she un-
latched the gate and stood thee, her long, black curly locks and
smiling brown eyes presenting a perfect picture of lovliness, she
added, "I am Nancy Haven."

He gravely replied that he was Captain Daniel Howe, and
when he explained that he had come to see her father on business
of importance her smile vanished. She suspected that his visit was
not a friendly one for she replied in no uncertain terms that her
father and mother were both far from home and he need not wait
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for their return.

The captain suspected a prearranged plan © outwit the mili-
tary authorities. He had met similar situations before and he was
not to be easily thwarted. After due deliberation he expressed a
desire to search the premises. To this proposal little Nancy spirit-
edly replied, "Search to your heart's content I have told you
there is no one at home. I am sorry if you do not choose o take nmy
word for it."

"Now are you satisfied,” she chided, when the search was
completed and the only other human beings in evidence were
found © be old "Uncle"” Ben and "Aunt" Dinah. Still not a hint
would she give of the whereabouts of her parents nor when she
expected them to return.

Presently Nancy grew friendly again and the stern demeanor
of her visitor was softened when she invited him to remain for
the noon day meal, now being put on the table by the faithful
colored servants. It was a wholesome meal of crisp fried chicken
and gravy, cornbread and sweetpotatoes, and while they partook
of it the little hostess listened with rapt attention t® his recital of
some of the recent events. Hers was a small world. She had scarce-
ly been beyond the limits of her farm home and those of the adja-
cent farm neighbors, the Peppers and the Shells. At last he arose
@ and when he thanked her for the excellent dinner and bade her
good-bye he added in a kindly voice, "Now, my little friend, you
must not think hard of me for after all a man in the service of his
country must do his duty.”

Her dark eyes flashed a she retorted, "And you must not
think hard of my Daddy, either!" His heart was touched when her
tone softened and she added with a sweet smile, "But I'd like to
have you come back again, anytime, for just a friendly visit."

He expressed his appreciation for her gracious manner and
kindly thoughts towards one in his position, assuring her he would
be most happy t return and renew their friendship after the end
of hostilities, which he hoped would be very soon. As he prepared
to mount his horse he added, "And by that time I feel sure our in-
dependence will be a reality, and with that issue settled there will
be 0 occasion to call s you armed like this and demand to search
your home," concluding in a spirit of jest, "unless I have to do 2
o find you."

He flung himself lightly into the saddle and with a cheerful
farewell salute rode away, his mission unaccomplished - and per-
haps for the moment forgotten.

Thus the story might end, except that there was a day of re-
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turn. Future events lead to the belief that Captain Daniel Howe
did not go home that day entirely empty handed. He carried with
him the heart of a brown-eyed, spirited little Tory, and left his
own behind.

The story continues. -

Some years later, one bright Sunday afternoon towards the
end of summer, the same lone rider mounted his horse on the front
lawn of Sunnyside and set forth over the road that leads to Pep-
per's Ferry and the home of Howard Haven around the bend of
the river beyond. From his immaculate attire and light-hearted
manner it was evident that this trip was not of a serious nature.
War was long a thing of the past. The animosities and suspicions -
the extreme feeling of colonist against Tory or loyalist - had been
largely forgotten. The lone horseman, Daniel Howe, was now the
master of Sunnyside and an industrious young g.entleman farmer.
Fate perhaps had much in store for him. He hummed the words of
one of his favorite songs, "Barbara Allen," as he rode along with
a light heart over the leaf strewn forest trail. The birds in the trees
overhead appeared to join in the refrain. Romance was in the air.

The roadway around the bend of the river to the Haven farm
home was now a well beaten trail, so frequently had Daniel Howe
made this trip during the past summer. Nancy Haven, of the days
of black curly locks and the apple tree swing, had blossomed into
beautiful womanhood. Theirs had been love at first sight, and deep
devotion at second. Daniel Howe and Nancy Haven sat under the
same old spreading apple trne that night until a late hour. He held
her hand while the silvery moon cast its shadows over the rippling
waters of the nearby river. Soft words were spoken and plans
were made.- There was nothing to mar the perfect serenity of this
blissful summer evening together when they pledged never again
to part.

Daniel and Nancy were married as the red and gold of the
woodland forietold the corning of autumn. With the "little Tory" by
his side in the family carriage he drove back across the river and
over the winding forest road to the old Howe homestead on Back
Creek. Nancy was now the new mistress of Sunnyside.

Early tradition erroneously placed the locale of this story at
the old Haven place on Plum Creek, two miles ,east of Radford.
This, possibly for the reason that it was the only old Haven place
known of in the river area. The log house located a short distance
up the hollow from the mouth of the creeck was at one time the
home of William Haven, son of Howard Haven, and later the home
of William's son, John. The log house still stands although the



22 LISTEN TO THE MOCKINGBIRD

grist mill and dam have long since vanished.* The Howard Haven
home, the true locale of this story, was about five miles further
down the river. The log house of Revolutionary days disappeared
from the scene in the far distant past and the farm lost the identity
of its original owner at such a remote date that the Howard Haven
ownership and the association of the place with the romantic epi-
sode of his daughter appears to have become lost in the mists of
time. The court records disclose that it passed out of the hands of
the Haven heirs in the early 1790's. **

Howard Haven was among the early settlers along the east
bank of New River. He died in 1787, three years prior to the be-
trothal of his youngest daughter to Major Daniel Howe. Nancy's
mother was her guardian at this time and she was given in mar-
riage by her elder brother, William. The farm home of Howard
and Ruth Haven was located on the east bank of the river, about
two miles below Pepper's Ferry. During the early nineties an
ancient looking red brick house, dating from around Civil War
days, stood on the site of the original log house. The red brick
house was destroyed by fire around the turn of the century and
was never restored to its original form.

On the death of Howard Haven, under the provisions of his
will, dated January 30, 1787, the home place was bequeathed to
his only two sons, John and William. William, now 25, had married
Barbara Shell and John, two years his junior, a year prior to the
death of his father, had married Mary Pepper, daughter of Samuel
Pepper of Pepper's Fierry. Both the Shell and Pepper families
owned river bottom farms adjacent to the Howard Haven place.
A few years after his marriage John Haven built a Wayside Inn on
the Valley Turnpike near the upper branches of Connelly's Run,
which he called Lovely Mount Tavern, and moved there with his
young family, in 1796. The community center that developed at

*Ref: Court records show that William Haven, a son of Howard Haven,
bought the home and mill on Plum Creek from one Cofer, in 1819. He con-
veyed the property to his son, John, on departing for Indiana with others of
the Haven clan, in 1827. John Haven operated the mill there until his death,
in 1853, when the property was acquired by Colonel Hammet.

**Reference: The record in the Montgomery County Court House gives the
description of the Howard Haven farm as follows: "Lying east of New River,
adjacent to the lands of Shell, Pepper, Barnett ... and bounded as follows:

8;;6 is given the lengths and bearings of boundary lines etc..) and containing

%> acres. .."

__ The description places the Howard Haven farm at the locale described
in this story. The farm lay between what was later known as the Henry Barnett
and Henderson Flannaéan places. The latter farm extended down the river to
Stroubles Creek. The Barnett Farm extended up the river into the mountain
ridge near Pepper's Ferry.
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Lovely Mount was the forerunner of a town that was founded near-
by in later years. But that is another story.

A few years after their father's death the Haven sons sold the
home place to one Taber, and after a brief tenure by the new own-
er it was conveyed to one Matthews. Through the years the place
passed from the hands of one owner to another, when in the late
1850's it became the property of John Dunbar Howe, a son of
Daniel and Nancy Haven Howe. On the marriage of John Thomas
Howe, son of John Dunbar, to Sallie De Jarnette, in 1866, the river
farm, then known as "Riverton", was given to John Thomas and
his bride as his inheritance. The story of their life here will be
told in a later chapter.

It is a rather unusual coincidence that the Howard Haven
place of the 1780's should eventually be restored to a later genera-
tion of the Howes. But even more unusual that they should have
remained unaware of the fact that this was the place where the
little Tory girl won the heart of Daniel Howe amidst the tumultous
days of the Revolution.

The union of Daniel Howe and Nancy Haven was blessed with
seven daughters and four sons. All of them, except Daniel Jr. who
died in infancy, grew to maturity and most of them after marriage
settled in Giles, Pulaski and Montgomery Counties.

The second daughter, Eleanor, married her cousin, James
Hoge, Jr. Of this romance the story is told of how James came upon
her one day at the small summer house at Hayfield (Belle Hamp-
ton) alone and quietly weeping. Much concerned he put his arm
about her and softly asked, "What in the world is the matter,
Nellie?"

Brushing the tears away she confided that her parents wanted
her to marry some one (mentioned by name) with whom she was
not in love. Young James drew her closer as he assured her he
would solve her problem. When she questioned his ability to alter
the very difficult situation confronting her, he declared his deep
love, kept to himself for a long, long time and insisted that she
pledge to marry him forthwith. Eleanor, only 18 at this time, had
secretly nourished the same feeling of affection for her cousin,
and thus her problem of the heart was solved. Eleanor and James
Hoge were married and on the death of his father two years later
he became the owner of Hayfield, later to be known as Belle
Hampton. Here they were to enjoy a long and happy life together.

In writing of this marriage the late Governor James Hoge
Tyler, a grandson, said: "General James Hoge, who was a son of
James and Elizabeth Howe Hoge of Belle Hampton, married Elea-
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nor Howe, daughter of Daniel and Nancy Haven Howe. Thus
General James Hoge, who was a son of a Howe, married Eleanor
Howe, who was a daughter of a Howe. Both parties to this marri-
age, therefore, had the same grandfather, Joseph Howe. General
Hoge was the nephew of his wife's father and Eleanor Howe was
the niece of her husband's mother. Thus they were first cousins
and thus did their descendants become more Howe than Hoge."

Eliza, the only daughter of General James and Eleanor Howe
Hoge, was the mother of the late Governor James Hoge Tyler, and
died at the time of his birth. In telling his childr,en of his early life
he once said of the grandmother who had reared him, "Eleanor
Howe Hoge, your great-grandmother, took me at my mother's
death and brought me from Caroline to our present home (Belle
Hampton) when I was but two weeks old. After the first leg of the
journey from Caroline to Richmond by carriage, travel from Rich-
mond to Lynchburg was by canal boat. She was met by her hus-
band and I was carried from Lynchburg to Southwest Virginia
swung in a champagne basket tied to the top of the carriage. This
kind grandmother was indeed a mother to me, and I cherish her
precious memory and that of my noble grandfather, both of whom
raised me as their own son."

Of the remaining daughters of Daniel and Nancy Haven Howe,
little is known of their later life following marriage, and so little
can be told. The three sons, Joseph, John Dunbar and William each
marri,ed and had large families, many of whose descendants are
prominent throughout Southwest Virginia. Joseph settled in Dra-
per where he died at an advanced age, and is buried in the old
family burying ground near that village. John Dunbar at the time
of his marriage took up life on a farm in Draper's Valley. He event-
ually returned to take over the old home place. The fortunes of
John Dunbar Howe, with whom this story is more closely con-
cerned, will be taken up at greater length in a later chapter. Wil-
liam, the youngest son, managed Sunnyside during his father's
later years and eventually fell heir to the estate but later he traded
his interests to his older brother, as will be recounted in more de-
tail later. Upon leaving Sunnyside William Howie settled in Wythe
County where he, as well as a son, William, after him, became an
outstanding farmer and cattleman of that region.

Daniel Howe's life of 80 full years covered a most eventful
period of time, extending through the American War of Indepen-
dence, in which he had a part, to the birth of a new Nation. He
witnessed the struggles of the infant republic under George Wash-
ington, and its development through the terms of Adams, Jefferson
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and their successors, an past the turbulent reign of Old Hickory
Jackson. During these years he was busily engaged in developing
and expanding his Sunnyside estate, as well a sharing an interest
in public affairs. He increased his holdings to 1200 acres of land
along the Back Creek Valley, over which now roamed many fine
head of cattle, flocks of sheep and other live stock. His le:tdership
in church and civic affairs during a long and worthy life was a
great asset to the farming community in which he lived. The His-
tory of the Middle New River Settlements says of him, in part,
***Daniel Howe, an officer in the Revolutionary War, was a man
of strong mind and high character.***" He died at Sunnyside on
January 2, 1838

In the division of his estate Daniel Howe's farm land along
Back Creek was apportioned among his three sons. The sons and
their portions he specified in his will, in order: "To son, Joseph
Howard Howe the lower end of my lands which he has had in
possession etc.... To son, John Dunbar Howe the upper part of
that tract of land I now live on as far down the creek to a large
spruce pine on the bank of the creek at the edge of my orchard, and
across the creek westerly to a large poplar on the steep hillside,
thence up the hollow to the foot of the hill north to my patent line.
(Given in full, this describes the tract of land adjacent to Belle
Hampton). To son, William Henry Howe the balance of my land
where | now live, my wagon and two work horses, my smyth tools
and all of my farming utensils, one bed and furniture, cupboard,
my old desk and bookcase, one rifle gun and negro boy, Isaac.”

His daughters were not forgotten, although they had all mar-
ried men who had farms of their own, or were otherwise well pro-
vided for. But regardless of economic status, each was mentioned
by name in a division among them of the large amount of property
their father had accumulated, outside of his land holdings, house-
hold goods and personal effects. After a few selected gifts compris-
ing cash, special p,2ces of furniture, riding horses, et cetera, he
states: "The balance of my property to be sold and divided among
my children (daughters given by name, followed by a list of prop-
erty), viz: Cows with calves, for $12 each; cattle at prices ranging
from $12 to $20 per head; 2800 sheep, priced at $1.25 each; one sow
and seven pigs, for $7; some 1200 pounds of bacon, at seven cents
per pound; and nine slaves."

There were several more pages of miscellaneous property.

Daniel and Nancy Haven Howe enjoyed forty years of mar-
ried life. They raised a large family and accumulated an abundance
of the fruits of the ,earth to distribute among them. Nancy Haven
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Howe died in 1830, preceding her husband to the grave by eight
years.

Today, in the old family burying ground at Sunnyside, on the
hill overlooking the Valley of Back Creek, stand two tombstones
side by side. They are covered with moss and tarnished by more
than a century of time. One bears the inscription, "To the Memory
of NANCY HAVEN HOWE," the other, "To the Memory of MAJOR
DANIEL HOWE". Underneath the latter, through the tarnished
surface, can with difficulty be deciphered the ending to the epi-
taph:

"IN YOUTH A SOLDIER OF THE REVOLUTION
IN OLD AGE A SOLDIER OF THE CROSS."



Chapter IV

DRAPER'S VALLEY - NEWBERN
SQUIRE JONES SEES A GHOST
JOHN HOWE SEES A TRAIN

Of the eleven children of Daniel and Nancy Haven Howe, John
Dunbar was the sixth, and the second son. At 29, he married Sarah
Boyd Logan Shepherd, a great-great-granddaughter of Colonel
James Patton who was massacred by the Indians at Draper's
Meadows, in 1755.*

John Dunbar Howe and his bride, of 15, began their married
life on a farm, to which she had fallen heir, in Draper's Valley, a
rich agricultural region some six or eight miles southeast of Pulaski
City. Here were born their first children; Daniel, Margaret Ann,
Susan Boyd and Eliza Jane.

He left Draper's Valley with his young family and moved to
Newbern, the principal town of Pulaski County at that time, and
went into the mercantile business, about the year 1838. It appears,
however, that the farm in Draper's Valley was not disposed of at
this time, for Eliza Jane and Charles Matthews, after their mar-
riage some 15 years later, lived there for a time. Later the place
was sold and Charles and Eliza Howe Matthews bought a farm on
Walk,er's Creek, in Giles County.

John Dunbar Howe's business enterprises at Newbern included
a store and the U. S. post office combined and located on the Valley
Pike (Rock Road), the main stagecoach line from the Shenandoah
Valley to Bristol and the southwest, it served as a sort of wayside
tavern. How long the family lived in Newbern is not definitely
known but, like the period lived in Draper's Valley, it can be fairly
well estimated from the record of the births of the children. Here
were born EU2n Mary, John Thomas, Samuel Shepherd, Haven
Boyd and William. The last two children of the family, Minnie and

*Reference: Genealogical data in the Appendix, Page 370.
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Agnes, were born at Sunnyside, the former in 1852. Therefore,
John Dunbar Howe left Newbern and returned to the Back Creek
home sometime between the births of William and Minnie, or
probably about 1850.

John Dunbar came into possession of Sunnyside through a
trade with his brother, William, who lived there from the time he
had inherited the estate, on the death of his father, in 1838 It is
understood that he gave his Newbern property and other considera-
tions in exchange for the old home place. He still owned a tract of
land adjacent to BeUe Hampton, and additional land down the
creek secured from Joseph, restored the estate to approximately
its original boundaries.

Very little is known about the life in Draper's Valley but the
record becomes somewhat clearer during the ten or more years
sojourn in Newbern. The children of that period, whom the present
generation years later knew as Aunt Susan, Aunt Lizzie and Aunt
Ellen, remembered their mother as being very pretty and vfvacious.
She lived a strenuous life, according to the standards of that time,
managing a large family; sewing, weaving and knitting and, with
these many activities, supervising the slaves and seeing that they
kept at useful tasks when the usual household chores were done.
Many of their father's periods of relaxation were spent in playing
the fiddle and having his little daughters, Margaret, Susan, Lizzie
and Ellen, ranging in ages at this time from about nine to five
years, dance to his lively jig tunes.

Margaret Ann, the first daughter born in Draper's Valley, was
the only one of the girls who did not, on marrying, settle down on
a farm in the vicinity of Back Creek. Margaret married Dr. George
Shannon, and soon thereafter they set out for Texas. A timid, shy
girl, she was reluctant to go so far from home, especially to such
a strange, wild land as this was reported to be. A few years after
settling there Margaret died, and a short time later Dr. Shannon
returned to Virginia with his young son, Johnny. Later he again
went to Texas and took up ranching. One day while branding cat-
tle a steer broke loose and gored his son, John, now 22, to death.
Dr. Shannon returned to Sunnyside with the cremated remains for
burial in the family cemetery. It was whispered among the servants
that he had his son's remains with him, in the upstairs west room
which he occupied. The colored folk having no understanding of
cremation, were uneasy and frightened with the thought of going
upstairs and talked about it in awed whispers for days. The inci-
dent gave rise to another of the many legends of ghosts in the old
homestead.
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Some idea of the life and conditions existing during the years
at Newbern can be seen in a humorous episode written by John
Dunbar Howe for a local newspaper in his later years. His refer-
ence to the undisclosed time of happening, considering the period
at which it was written, places the incident around the early 1840s,
or during the first years lived there. The following is quoted from
his original manuscript:

"Some forty years ago, I am not particular about dates, I kept
a little store somewhere in the County of Pulaski. It doesn't matter
where but it was not in Dublin, for at that time Dublin was not
established and railroads and telegraphs had not been thought of]
and all who took newspapers and received letters had to 'wait for
the wagon' before they got them. I kept liquor for sale, as most
merchants did in those days, and there was an old man living near
me, I will call him Squire Jones, who almost uniformly came early
every morning to get his bottle filled. It so happened one night 1
was taken with a severe pain in my head and, as I was suffering
very much I concluded to get some pepper and pound it up and wet
it with whisky and bind it to my head. The weather being warm
and there being no fire, and matches not being in use in those days,
I felt my way the best I could in the dark to where I kept a keg
of pepper, and put my hand in and got out what I thought was a
handful, and pounded it up and wet it with whisky and rubbed my
forehead and temples well with the mixture, and went back to bed.

"Early next morning before it was quite light, the time when
ghosts are said to do their walking, I heard someone knocking at
my door. Thinks I, 'Squire Jones, and nothing more,’ so I again
sank into a slumber. But soon again I heard a knocking, knocking
at my door so I raised up in my bed and said, 'Come in,' and in
popped my old customer, Squire Jones, bottle in hand, and after
taking a wild and hurried look at me, broke back, exclaiming,
'Good God!'

"I could not imagine what had come over my old friend and
customer to cause him to beat so sudden a retreat and that, too,
without getting his bottle filled. So I got up and dressed and on
facing the looking glass 1 saw that I had the most awful looking
face that any poor mortal ever had. In reaching down in the dark
to get pepper I had missed the pepper keg and got a handful of
indigo, and had pounded it up with the whisky and had rubbed my
temples and forehead well with the mixture, and it was my fright-
ful looking face that so frightened the old Squire. and made him
take the back porch in such a hurry without getting his bottle
filled.
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"And now, Mr. Editor, I will say to you and your readers that
what I have related is o fiction but real genuine historical fact. I
will only add that my old friend, Jones, has long since gone the
way of the earth, but it is some consolation to know that for sev-
eral years before his death he became quite a temperate man."

His narrative concludes with the following observation:

"In relating this little episode of my early life, I am forcibly
reminded of the transitory things of this life. I am carried back in
memory to the days when I, in the prime of youth, engaged in the
busy scenes of life with a busy people, most of whom have now
passed away and I, almost alone, left standing an the bank of that
much dreaded River Styx, awaiting with all the philosophy I can
command the fatal summons, 'Hop over, three score and ten.'

"Then, pilgrim, turn, thy cares forego;
All earth-born cares are wrong:

Man wants but little here below,

Nor wants that little long.'

"Now that I have given a quotation from Oliver Goldsmith I
had = well give Josh Billings' commentary m it:

'Man wants but little here below' may have been true when it
was first written but ever since the war 'he wants all he can lay
his claws on." "

John Dunbar Howe's use of the expression, "wait for the wa-
gon," indicates that this old folk song had its origin a long way
back, probably well before his time.

One day while his wife was "waiting for the wagon,” the stage
drew wp at the door with the hom blowing loudly. The driver
jumped down, secured his sweating horses t the rack and rushed
in with the announOement, "Mrs. Howe, ['ve brought you some-
thing very special from your husband.”

A blanket was thrown back disclosing a little colored girl
about six years of age. Her husband had gone to Richmond a one
of his periodic business trips and while there had bought the little
gir lin the slave market.

While he kept slaves, as was the custom with all other fami-
lies of the south, he was opposed to slavery on humanitarian
grounds. But while passing the market he had found a colored
woman in great distress, and a "deal in slavery" appeared to be the
only solution to her problem. Kind man that he was, he had talked
with her and learned that she had just been purchased, and a the
condition that her child be left behind. She was in a state of mental
anguish over what might become of her little girl. In an attempt
to pacify her, Mr. Howe suggested that he buy the child and give
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her a good home, one where she would be accessible to her mother
at any time. She became thoroughly pacified by his sympathetic,
kindly manner and entirely agreeable with the arrangements he
sugg,ested. In payment of $800 he secured the girl and sent her to
Newbern on the stagecoach ahead of his departure.

The child grew up into an intelligent, dependable servant.
When Susan Howe married Montgo:mery Thomas, on April § 1854,
the slave girl, now well along in her teens, went with the bride
and groom to their new home as one of the wedding piriesents from
the bride's parents.

There are those of the present generation who hav,e heard
Aunt Susan tell something of the life in the days of the slaves. At
that time many retained the customs and superstitions of their
native land. This story which illustrates some of their strange ways
she probably heard from some of the older generation at Sunny-
side.

Among the newly acquired slaves was a tall, coal-black negro,
named Hannibal, who habitually walked around muttering unin-
telligible gibberish to himself and otherwise acting as though he
had come dlrect from the African jungle. One of his primitive
tricks was to tie woven-grass ropes across the trail as a kind of
trap, and when one of the other slaves tripped over the entangle-
ment he would rise up out of the grass where he was in hiding and
laugh at the discomfiture of his victim. His queer ways led the
other slaves to the belief that old Hannibal had the power to "con-
jur" or "hex" them. When one of the young slave girls became
sickly and lost her desire for food, she claimed that Hannibal had
hexed her. She became frightened and stole away into the deep
woods to be free of her hexer.

Several weeks elapsed before she was found; unkempt, dirty
and with her clothes in tatters. But to the great surprise of all she
was physically fit and fat as a well fed animal. When questioned
about how she had secured food for her sustenance, it was found
that she had subsisted almost entirely on locusts. This happened to
be a locust year and they were in abundance throughout the forest.
Should this case be brought to the attention of a psychiatrist, he
would probably say that the girl was suffering from an emotional
disturbance - the imagined hexing - which brought on the de-
ficiency in nutrition. This was shown by the fact that once released
from the nervous tension the normal appetite returned, and the
locusts provided the very vitamins her system so sorely needed.

The reference to the fact that railroads in this section had not
been thought of and that "Dublin had not been established," fur-
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nishes a clue to the reason for the demise of Newbern & a promi-
nent town in this section. That Newbern was a city of some im-
portance at this early period can be discerned from the following
items taken from the social notes of that day:*

Newbern, Virginia.
November 13, 1847.
"The pleasure of your company is respectfully solicited
a a party to be given in honor of Miss Susan Shields and
Colonel Thomas Wilson, at the Union Hotel, in the town of
Newbern, on the 18th inst., at five o'clock in the evening.
The Committee:

William J. Jordan William J. Wall Leander Smith
Thomas J. Charlton John B. Baskerville Herman Bope
James M. Aiken J. W. Shields James M. Ward

And, again, the following month, -

Newbern, Virginia.
December - , 1847.
"The pleasure of your company is respectfully solicited
at a dancing party at the home of Mr. and Mrs. John Dunbar
Howe, on the 28th of December, 1847, at six o'clock in the
evening."
(Signed by the Committee)

Inquiries fail to find any inhabitant of that neighborhood who
ever heard that a Union Hotel, or any other hotel, ,ever existed in
Newbern. Nor was there in the remembrance of John Thomas
Howe, which went back to the early fifties, anything at his birth
place at that time other than a few houses by the roadside. In short,
the little city virtually disappeared overnight with the coming of
the railroad, and had its reincarnation near by in the town of
Dublin.

John Thomas Howe, a a small boy, saw the first train to run
to Dublin. And it was the first train he, & well a many of the
other inhabitants of that section, ever saw. He came from the old
home place on Back Creek, where they had moved in the early
fifties after leaving Newbern, for the occasion. In telling of the
incident years later, Captain Howe remarked that the coming event
had been talked of for days since no one in that part of the country

"Howe's History of Virginia, published 1845, page 443, states: "Newbern,
the county-seat, (of Pulaski 0unty§) is on the great stage-route from Baltimore
to Nashville. It is the only village in the county and one of considerable busi-
ness. It contains five mercantile stores, one Presbyterian and one Methodist
church etc etc .... "
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had ever seen a locomotive. Ther,efore, a large crowd had gathered,
some bringing along picnic baskets o they might make a full day
of it.

The Virginia & Tennessee Railroad, as the Norfolk & Western
was originally caUed, had opened its line to Christiansburg an April
1st Two months later, on June 1st the line was extended to Cen-
tral Depot, the town afterwards known as East Radford. Now, July
1 1854, the line was to be extended to Dublin, or rather to a way
station near Newbern which was to be christened Dublin.

Recalling some of the details, Captain Howe said, "The folks
had been waiting patiently a long time before the strange contrap-
tion came puffing into the depot. Everybody got back some distance
at first but a soon as she settled down we all edged up pretty close,
curiosity evercoming our trepidation. When ready to resume the
return journey the engineer climbed up in the cab and pulled some
levers, and there resulted a terrible hissing noise and a cloud of
steam that billowed out over everybody. At the same time a big
loose mouthed country fellow yelled at the top of his voice, 'Look
out, folks, she's gon-na turn around!'" and with that warning cry
he headed for the nearest rail fence. The crowd stampeded with
him."

In concluding his recital of the incident, Captain Howe con-
tinued: "We, of course, knew that this being the end of the line, the
big machine would have to go back the way it came. But nobody
had thought of how it was to be done until the fellow shouted,
'She's gon-na turn around!" I fell down a couple of times in making
the fence, and crawled the last few yards to safety. The grown folks
went over the top, we smaller ones scrambled through the cracks.
I have often wondered why I wasn't badly trampled by the mad
rush of those heavy country boots. From the vantage point of the
fence 1 gazed in awe through a crack between the rails until the
monster was out of sight in a cloud of steam, smoke and cinders."

Since John Thomas Howe moved to the old home place with
the family at the early age of eight, he had little remembrance of
Newbern and the period lived there. He talked most often of his
early lifo at Sunnyside; how through the long winter months he
toiled over his spelling and arithmetic sums at the blackboard in
the one-room country school house, and later went on to the more
advanced subjects of grammar, history, geography, mathematics
and accounting, until he had completed all of the course of instruc-
tion offered in the rural schools. In that day only the young men
who were to become lawyers, doctors or ministers of the gospel
went away t college. Most of the boys whose parents had large
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land holdings anticipated a farm of their own a soon a they were
old enough to marry and settle down. The best preparation for this
appeared to be by application an the home place.

The rural schools, however, were thorough and substantial and
offered all of the educational advantages necessary for any practi-
cal purpose. So during these years John Howe acquired an excel-
lent education in all of the fundamentals, and was especially gifted
in mathematics, accounting and penmanship.

But his fondest recollections were of his earlier boyhood days;
those long peaceful hours of summer when a a barefoot boy he
roamed afar up and down the grassy meadows, swam and fished
in the deep, shady pools along Back Creek, and munched sweet
apples from the trees in the front lawn.

Generations of the Howes and De Jarnettes enjoyed the ap-
ples from the two large, spreading trees that stood at the lower
edge of the front yard near the entrance gate. They yielded a large,
red and golden tinted apple, the flavor of which has never been
duplicated. They were called Albermarle pippins but they were
far superior to the apples of that name. They had a special flavor
of ambrosia and a juicy texture that mo other Albermarle pippin,
nor any other pippin, ever possessed. These trees have long since
disappeared. With their demise that strain of apple passed out of
existence. But those who & youngsters searched through the high
orchard grass for this luscious fruit are apt to think of the two
apple trees in the front yard at Sunnyside whenever Albermarle
pippins are mentioned.

When young John Thomas Howe, s a boy in his late teens,
left the tranquil valley of Back Creek for the Civil War, little did
he guess the change that four short years would bring. An entirely
new world; a world of hardships, joys and sorrows undreamed of
was 0 open o him, and to the family that was © be.
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Chapter V

OFF TO WAR

On the morning of April 16 1861, John Thomas Howe, then
19 years of age, was working in the meadow at Sunnyside when a
neighbor stopped by to break the news about the latest war devel-
opments. The previous day, the informant related, President Lin-
coln, due to the action at Fort Sumter on the 12th, had issued a
call for 75000 volunteers to invade the south. This was nothing
less than a fighting declaration t all southerners.

Young John promptly put away his farm tools and prepared
to leave for the nearest recruiting oenter. The next morning he
bade his home folks good-bye and set out for Blacksburg, some 15
miles distant. Arriving there after several hours travel over the
dirt road by way of Pepper's Ferry, he applied for enrollment in
the 4th Virginia Regiment being mustered into the service for the
Confederacy by Colonel James Francis Preston.

Colonel Preston, owner of White Thorn estate near Blacks-
burg, a graduate of West Point and v,eteran of the war with Mexi-
co, had already been designated for regimental command by higher
authority. He had fought with distinction in the Mexican War but
had resigned his commission at the time of, or shortly beforie, the
secession and had resumed_his status as a prominent farmer and
distinguished citizen of that section. He was especially suited,
therefore, for the command of a regiment of volunteers, and the
town and country boys of that region flocked to his banner at the
first call to arms.

John Howe often related how the people of Blacksburg gath-
ered on the streets in excited groups taking leave of their loved
ones; the ladies offering them gifts of tobacco pouches, sewing Kits,
pincushions, needle cases and other knickknacks designed for the
prospective soldier. Most of the young ones were shouting and
laughing, and some of the older ones were crying. But the boys
were happy and gay with the prospect of going out in the world

13
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on their first great adventure. Everyone agreed that it would be
a joyous picnic, except perhaps those few older ones who were cry-
ing. Of course, the young recruits reasoned, their elders were too
old fashioned to really appreciate the worthwhile, adventurous
things of life. They would march towards Washington with bands
playing and flags waving, have a great parade and demonstration,
and then all return home. They were sure that both sides would
view the whole affair in this light and not a shot would be fired,
except in celebration of the happy home coming within a few days,
or a few weeks at most. What a grand experience was in store for
them!

The following day the regiment, or that part recruited in
Blacksburg, set out by wagon-train, buggies and four-horse coach-
es for the railway station at Christiansburg, ten miles away. Here
a restless night was spent in waiting for the train. When near day-
break it at last drew up to the depot it was not the expected passen-
ger train but a long string of box cars. Into these the boys crowded
with their hand baggage and parcels, good-naturedly shoving for
a place near the door as the train slowly pulled out for Richmond.
The people in the towns of Salem, Big Lick (now Roanoke) and
Lynchburg waved and cheered as they passed through, and they
shouted back greetings and words of cheer until their throats were
raw and sore.

In writing of this experience, John Howe said, "On arrival in
Richmond we were put up that night in the Metropolitan Hotel.
The following morning the captain and his lieutenant were busy
rounding us up for enrollment when one of the boys bounded up
the steps and called out ,excitedly, 'Run out here quick, the general
is coming!" We all made a break and all the raving and storming
the captain could do was of no avail. The rooms were quickly emp-
tied as we crowded for a place of vantage along the front of the
building. There was a hush as he passed by; a tall impressive fig-
ure, dressed in magnificent uniform all covered with gold braid.
On his head was what looked like a bear skin cap with a cockade
on it. Under his arm he carried a gold encrusted general's or field
marshal's baton. He was the most stern and important looking
personage we had ever seen, and all agreed that he must be the
highest ranking general in the Confederate army."

"When the general was out of sight,” he continued, "we were
finally assembled for enrollment and then marched out to the fair
grounds to pitch camp. Here we were quartered in the stables, two
to a stall, while being armed, equipped and dressed in new grey
uniforms. The next evening after guard mount we had our first
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dress parade. They formed us in line, or & near a line & could be
formed with green country boys who had never seen anything like
this before, with Smith's celebrated band, secured for our regi-
ment, on hand to furnish the musicc. When the band marched
around by our side of the square there was our 'general’ at the head
of the band, twirling his gold encrusted baton and stepping the
highest anyone ever saw to that inspiring music."

It was now Private John Howe of Company E, 4th Virginia
Volunteers, who began his training under cadets from the Virginia
Military Institute in the rudiments of disciplinary drill. A few
weeks of this basic training and the organization was prepared
take the field. In comparison with present day standards this may
appear much too short. There was, however, little to master in the
art of warfare as it was then taught. The position of a soldier, the
salute, the facings, the manual of arms, guard duty and the cere-
monies were just ab:mt sufficient training to round out the sol-
dier's preparation for the field.

The guard mounts and dress parades, with Smith's famous
band providing the martial music, were the most inspiring features
of the training. In addition to the inspirational and disciplinary
training, there was some instruction in the nomenclature, loading
and firing of the piece and use of the bayonet. The loading and fir-
ing drill was tedious and complicated due to the many distinct
movements, from the time of drawing the cartridge and nipping
off the greased paper end to the final placing of the priming cap
and pulling the trigger. When executed by count, as required in
training drills, it consisted of fifteen movements; the drill master
counting a he gave a command for each separate operation, viz:
Handle cartridge! Tear cartridge! (in two movements as the tal-
lowed paper end was torn off with the teeth) Charge cartridge!
Draw rammer! Prime! (in three motions) and, in addition, there
were three counts for cocking, aiming and pressing the trigger. But
with a few days practice the men could simulate firing a volley,
reload and be ready o fire the next volley, all in double-quick
time. And the fifteen steps necessary to arrive at getting off the
charge was soon to become as "one-two" in future days of battle.

For bayonet training there were but two movements; how
take the position against an antagonist on foot, and how to alter
the position o meet a mounted man. In the latter case the soldier
dropped to one knee and placed the butt of the rifle firmly against
the ground to absorb the shock of the horse. Both movements could
be explained in a couple of minutes, after which, additional prac-
tice could be had when the enemy was met o the field of battle.
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Field maneuvers, range firing and combat practice were all
unknown. In short, aside from the disciplinary drills and the few
fundamental operations necessary in handling the simple weapons
of combat, there was little else to be learned about the life of a
soldier except to march and shoot, and these were to be learned the
hard way - in personal contact with the enemy.

THE EARLY CAMPAIGNS-WITH THE STONEWALL BRIGADE

This contact was now sought as the regiment was dispatched
north by train under sealed orders; first to Manassas Junction
where a transfer was made, and thence west to Strasburg. Here a
long wagon train awaited. With a gleeful shout of pleasure at this
preparation for their continued journey northward, the green
country boys rushed pell-mell for the wagon train, clambering
aboard and making themselves comfortable in choice seats in the
wagon beds. Their anticipated pleasure, however, was to be short
lived. They were promptly driven off the wagons by impatient
officers who formed them on the roadside, counted off details, and
under non-commissioned offioers proceeded to load the wagon
train with rations, ammunition and other implements of war. This
task completed, the troops reformed and set out on their first
march down the Valley of Virginia.

"That eighteen miles from Strasburg to Winchester," re-
marked Captain Howe years later, "was to be the beginning of the
years of marching up and down the Valley that earned for us the
nicknam,e of 'Jackson's Foot Cavalry.""

At Winchester the regiment again entrained, this time for
Harper's Ferry, the final destination. It was now learned that the
objective of the several days of train riding and marching was for
the purpose of seizing the arsenal and stores at this stategically
located town. This was done promptly, and with very little resis-
tance on the part of the small Federal garrison stationed there at
this early stage of the war.

After a few weeks at Harper's Ferry, with the ever present
threat of the arrival of strong Union forces from Washington, the
troops were ordered to withdraw up the Valley to the vicinity of
Winchester. This advanced position had become untenable, and
also the movement further to the rear was partially dictated by the
fact that the bulk of the Union army was now concentrating at
Manassas Junction and the Confederates were not to be outflanked
or drawn into a trap by allowing such a grouping of enemy forces
this far in their rear.

To the care-free farm boys of Virginia the Harper's Ferry
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campaign had been a great success. It had convinced the Yankees
that they meant business, and now that they saw the light the war
would soon be over. With such thoughts in mind the fair month of
May was turned into a period of gaiety for the soldier boys camped
about the Valley town of Winchester. There was martial music by
the r,egimental bands, lawn parties, dancing, and the scent of apple
blossoms filled the air. If this be war give us more of it, was the
thought that ran through the minds of the hundreds of young men
in grey who drilled and paraded with their regiments, and in be-
tween times frolicked about the town with the girls.

This lightness of heart, however, was not shared by the com-
manding general of the brigade, of which the Blacksburg regiment
had recently been made a part. General Thomas Jonathan Jackson,
already known as Old Jack to the rank and file under him, went
about his military duties with a visage as cold and stern as the
West Virginia section of the Alleghenies from whence he came.
After graduation from the United States Military Academy at West
Point Lieutenant Jackson had early gone through his baptism of
fire in the Mexican War. After some years of garrison duty he had
accepted the post of professor of mathematics and military tactics
at the Virginia Military Institute, and was engaged in this pleasant
pursuit at the time of the secession. When Major Jackson on the
outbreak of war placed himself at the service of his native land
(Virginia) he was ordered with a selected cadre of his cadets to
take over the military training and instruction of the green young
recruits then flowing into Richmond to join the colors. While at
Harper's Ferry Colonel Jackson of the Virginia Volunteers was
promoted to brigadier general and placed in command of the First
Provisional Brigade. Old Jack was soon recognized by those under
him as a stern disciplinarian and a man of unsual and outstanding
character. He early impressed his men with his firmness and
promptness of action, as a man with keen, analytical mind, strength
of character and great physical endurance, and one possessing a
Christian sense of duty so strong that no obstacle could deviate him
from the course of action he knew to be sound and just. When a
task confronted him he threw his whole mind and energy into the
accomplishment of it. When he marched on an objective he recog-
nized the vital importance of arriving promptly and striking hard
ond fast. Or, if the enemy was not yet on hand, he saw the great
advantage to be gained by being able to select a favorable position
and not be forced into an unfavorable one by a more alert enemy.
He drove his men to the limit of endurance at all times, whic he
felt was necessary in order to meet the high standard of achieve-
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ment he constantly set for his command. But he was a keen observ-
er of human natur,e, as well as human endurance, and recognized
the limits to which a soldier could go and still be able to give his
all when the final test of battle came. The men early learned that
this drive and firmness of purpose was the key to Old Jack's bril-
liant successes. They acquired abiding faith in his plans and de-
cisions and appeared to relish the hardships he shared equally with
them.

By early July the rumors wel'e flying thick and fast through-
out the army camp at Winchester concerning the tense military
situation across the mountains to the east at Manassas Junction.
General Beauregard, the highly ,esteemed Confederate commander,
faced a strong Union army along Bull Run under General Mc-
Dowell, and reports were rife that the battle which each side ex-
pected to end the conflict was about to be joined. On July 17th
orders were !'eceived directing the brigade to move out early on
the morning of the 18th and join General Beauregard at Manassas
Junction. All troops at Winchester, less the sick and wounded,
were to march across the mountain, crossing at Ashby's Gap 20
miles to the southeast, and thence some 10 miles further to Pied-
mont (now Delaplane), where trains would be waiting to carry
the troops on 35 miles eastward to Manassas Junction. Arrival
there must be made at the earliest possible hour in order to insure
success in the impending engagement.

For the boys of Colonel Preston's 4th Virginia Volunteers the
season of gaiety around Winchester was at an end. The morning of
July 18th the tramp of boots on the cobblestone streets could be
heard long beforie daylight as company after company swung into
line and headed eastward towards the crossing of the Shenandoah
and the low gap in the Blue Ridge Mountains that could be seen on
the horizon some miles beyond. Darkness that hot summer day
found the long, dusty grey line of weary men still on the go, now
toiling up the slopes of the Blue Ridge with no indication that a
halt for a bivouac was in prospect. Old Jack accomplished his
astonishing feats of forced marching not so much by increased
speed of foot as by keeping everlastingly at it. It was tramp, tramp,
tramp for sixteen or eighteen hours a day with only short ten min-
ute rest periods ,every hour; and then on and on to almost complete
exhaustion before a final halt was made for the few remaining
hours of the night.

They crossed the Shenandoah at twilight and it was near the
midnight hour when the last of the regiment passed over Ashby's
Gap and came to rest for the night in an oak grove on the lower
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edge of the village of Paris. There was mo thought of pitching shel-
ter tents. The exhausted men unfastened equipment, stacked arms
and dropped to the ground and fell asleep a their packs without
further ceremony. When a staff officer noticed that guard had not
been mounted and reported this to General Jackson and asked if
he should arouse a detail of men for guard duty, it is said that Gen-
eral Jackson replied, "Let the poor fellows sleep. I will watch over
the camp myself."

The general, himself, took his brief period of sleep on the
front porch of the house that stands at the junction of the road near
the lower end of the village. He removed only his boots and cam-
paign hat, and with folded poncho for a head rest lay down a the
bare boards in view of the bivouac across the road. The occupant,
aroused by the arrival of the troops and noting the general's pres-
lexe at the side of the road nearby, suggested he occupy a bed in
his home for the night. General Jackson graciously refused. In the
field he preferred, and insisted, an sharing the outdoor life with his
men.

The old house still stands today, at the junction of the road
leading to Delaplane (then Piedmont). The present owner, if asked
of the historical incident will point with pride to the very spot
near the end of the open porch where General Jackson spent the
night preceding the Battle of Manassas - the battle that was to
mark the beginning of his fame.

It is a matter of history how General Jackson arrived with his
brigade at Manassas Junction on the eve of the battle and on the
crucial hour of July 21, 1861, played a major role in the brilliant
victory of the eventful day. It was one of the most sensational vic-
tories that ever fell to troops a1 American soil.

At the height of the battle, when the outcome was still in
doubt, the 4th Virginia Volunteers commanded by Colonel James
Francis Preston, held a key position in the line and stood firm
against the brunt of the Union attack. It was this phase of the ac-
tion that inspired General Bee, mn seeing General Jackson standing
coolly surveying with satisfaction the action of the 4th Virginia,
o exclaim, "There is Jackson, standing like a stone wall. Rally
behind the Virginians!" A new name was won for General Jackson
and his brigade at Manassas. With this spontaneous outburst of
enthusiasm General Bee coined a phrase and a nickname that was
© become one of the most famous and lasting in the nation's his-
tory.

But young John Howe was not present an the battlefield of
Bull Run that 21st day of July. Afterwards, in explaining why he
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missed their first great victory, he said, "The day we marched into
Winchester | was terribly sick. For a time I thought it was a minor
upset due © the hard march from Harper's Ferry and to much
cold water while over-heated. I hoped to shake it off - kept dog-
gedly on. Later in the morning, however, I found I could hardly
put one foot before the other, and the company commander observ-
ing my condition told me to get in one of the supply wagons and
ride until we made camp that evening. The next morning I had to
go a sick call for the first time in my army service. On finding my
temperature was considerably above the hundred mark the medical
officer questioned me more closely about the childhood diseases
I had had and ended the examination with the curt remark, 'It
looks like a case of the measles ... the hospital is the place for
you..... "I later developed tonsillitis also and the two ailments
kept me in the hospital for several weeks."

"There was lots of excitement among the patients,” he con-
tinued, "when the troops started moving out for Manassas Junc-
tion. The last unit had hardly departed when word came that the
sick and wounded would soon be evacuated. On the day of the bat-
tle I was in an ambulance moving along the road from Strasburg
when there came the first rumble from the booming guns in the
distance, telling us the big battle was now in progress at Manassas
Junction."

The great Confederate victory at Manassas offered a chance
for the complete destruction of General McDowell's army and a
final march an the National Capitol. However, more thought and
,energy was given to celebrating the immediate fruits of victory
than the ultimate long range advantages offered by more prompt
and diligent action. There were days of delay for collecting the
bountiful quantities of rations, aims and equipment left behind
o the battlefield by the fleeing Yankees, for orientation and re-
organization, and then just indecision and procrastination until
days had lengthened into weeks and the golden opportunity had
slipped away.

By the time Private John Howe had fully recovered and was
back for duty with his organization in the Manassas area all
thoughts of a headlong dash into Washington had vanished. But
General Jackson - now more often called "Stonewall” - did not
relax in the slightest. He insisted that his brigade be kept in a state
of readiness for any eventuality. There were long days of drilling,
marching and cleaning chores; and then watchful waiting, with
equipment kept in shape and a full supply of ammunition on hand
in anticipation of any orders that might send them surging north-
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ward. The weeks stretched into months, with only raids and sorties
towards the Potomac but the orders to advance in force and take
Washington never came.

In late October Stonewall Jackson was promoted to major
general and given command of the Shenandoah District with head-
quarters again in Winchester. A short time later General Joseph
E. Johnston, the supreme commander of the Confederate forces in
the field, faced by the newly appointed General McClellan's re-
organized Union army and the threat his movements towards the
unprotected eastern peninsula offered t the Southern Capitol,
decided to ,evacuate Manassas Junction and fall back an stronger
positions near Richmond. This now left General Jackson with his
small army of 4600 isolated in the distant Valley, unsupported and
responsible for the protection of a vast area that was of critical
importance to the Southern cause.

By now the rank and file of the Stonewall Brigade who had
formerly looked upon their hard driving commander a somewhat
of an eccentric, and at times down right crazy, began to regard him
with mieverent awe. To them Old Jack with his piercing blue eyes
and flowing black beard was Old Man Mars in person. Even down
to the buck privates it became the fashion to grow a full beard,
whether in imitation or for lack of soap and razor. In any event,
young John Howe already boasted a black beard that came to his
uniform collar, although he was just turning 20 at this time. Such
faith was there in the infallibility and courage of Old Stonewall
that all ranks evidenced a desire to emulate him and to follow him,
o hell if need be, come what may. Little did they know how close
they were to tread to regions a hot, figuratively speaking, in the
eventful months to come.

There were few developments in the Winchester area during
the latter part of the year but early in 18622 General Jackson found
himself facing formidable opposition. At this time General Free-
mont was hovering on his left flank, at Romney, across the first
mountain range to the west, with 12000 men, and General Banks
2nd General Shields waited at the Potomac, to the northeast, with
an Army numbering about 37,000. In the face of this preponderant
opposition, General Jackson was charged with protecting the Val-
ley and preventing General Banks from joining McClellan in front
of Richmond. It was a most difficult task. To General Banks it must
have appeared that Old Jack was already securely corralled; set
for the kill like a fox neatly penned in a trap. However, Jackson
was soon © display all the cunning of a fox plus the offensive spirit
of a mountain lion. The wizardry with which Stonewall Jackson
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performed the difficult task assigned him constitutes one of the
most brilli2.nt pages of military history.

In early March, the worst of the snow storms and wintry
blasts having passed, General Jackson order,ed his army to move
southward. No one questioned the reason why, but the Union
forces were growing stronger and more threatening and it was
apparent that Stonewall Jackson, after due deliberation had decid-
ed that the move was his logical course of action at this time. It was
evident from the serious preparations being made that something
of vital moment was in the offing. With his movements effectively
screened by the energetic young cavalry officer, General Turner
Ashby, he now started on the series of maneuvers and accompany-
ing brilliant victories that were to make his name immortal.

Jackson's Valley campaigns have become a classic in the art
of war. Text books have been written on these campaigns for use in
military schools, and military men throughout the world have
studied the Valley campaigns of Stonewall Jackson for their per-
fection in each of the vital principles of war, such as; the element
of surprise, economy of force, supply, mobility, hardihood and
endurance, security, secrecy, concealment, cooperation and offen-
sive action. Under extreme adverse conditions of warfare courage
and hard work alone are not enough. When always outnumbered
three or four to one, and against an enemy backed by unlimited
resources of manpower, food, guns and ammunition, it r,equires a
stout heart and the brain of a genius to carry on and attain one
great victory after another. Little wonder the question of how and
why this was accomplished is so worthy of study.

John Thomas Howe was to follow the Stonewall Brigade
through this series of military operations from the first retreat out
of Winchester, back to the battle of Kernstown, the pursuit and
counter pursuit of Banks with the outwitting and defeat in turn of
Freemont, Milroy and Shields, at the battles of McDowell, Front
Royal, Second Winchester, Cross Keys and Port Republic; and
later to go on to larger, though no more sanguinary, battlegrounds.
It is not within the scope of this work to recount the complete story
of each of these engagements; it is suffici,ent to touch on the high
points that stood out most vividly in the memory of one who par-
ticipated in them.

From early March through April, May and June the Stonewall
Brigade was on the go up and down the Valley, dodging first across
one gap in the mountains and then back through another; appear-
ing suddenly on one front, and after a devastating blow silently
slipping away in the night to appear again just as unexpectedly on



54 LISTEN TO THE MOCKINGBIRD

another battle front many miles distant. They subsisted on scanty
rations, except when a Union field train was the prize. When the
nights were cold a brush pile in the woods was their bed. At other
times when a forced march was in progress they slept on their
packs beside the road ar in the open field, never taking time to
unroll blankets. But with all the deprivations and hardships they
were o keep the Union army of the Valley under General Banks
completely bewildered as they struck one telling blow after an-
other in the months to come.

It was on March 12th that Jackson started his move southward
from Winchester, leaving his cavalry commander, Turner Ashby,
o screen the movement and greet any of Bank's troops that might
venture into the town. They marched 40 miles south to the neigh-
borhood of Mount Jackson, and then came a courier from Ashby
that halted further withdrawal. The message was to the effect that
General Banks had pulled back with his main force and was prepar-
ing to join McClellan on the Richmond front, and that General
Shields had been left with 11,000 men to hold Winchester. This was
all Old Jack wanted to know. He ordered a counter march at once,
and with two days of forced marching, on March 23rd, came upon
General Shields unexpectedly at Kernstown, a village four miles
south of Winchester, and attacked him with such fury that General
Banks had to recall his columns from the march an Richmond and
return to extricate Shields, and again take up the arduous task of
pursuing Jackson.

In the face of superior numbers Jackson again withdrew south
to Harrisonburg whee he camped under cover of the woods during
the early part of April. During this time the Old Fox was planning,
and his troops were on the alert, scouting and patrolling, while
Ashby's cavalry retained a screen across the Valley and made long
distant forays into enemy territory for information regarding the
strength and movement of the Union forces. So effectively did
General Ashby perform his duties that Banks repeatedly reported
o Washington, "There's nothing left in the Valley except some
Rebel cavalry.”

With Freemont still across the mountains to the west, General
Banks strung out between Harisonburg and Strasburg to his north,
and Shields at Front Royal to the east of the Valley, Stonewall
Jackson, an April 30th, marched out for Port Republic and am
through Brown's Gap beyond as though he intended to flee from
the Valley. Instead, after disappearing through the gap in the Blue
Ridge he marched his command directly south to the Virginia
Central Railway line and entrained for Staunton. It must have
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entailed considerable planning and staff work to arrange for such
prompt dispatch of railroad transportation for a large body of
troops then at distant -points in the field, but so s,ecretive were
these plans made that the entire command was aboard and had re-
versed its field for a return to the Valley without anyone realizing
what had taen place.

Jackson detrained at Staunton and marched west into the Alle-
ghenies. On May 8th, 25 miles west of Staunton, he made a surprise
attack on General Milroy, one of Freemont's generals, at the moun-
tain town of McDowell. The woods were soon aflame from the fury
of the rifle fire. For three days the Stonewall Brigade pursued the
disorganized Yankees through the wooded mountains. When Sun-
day came Jackson ended the pursuit and celebrated the victory
with a long day of worship.

Stonewall Jackson was back in the Valley on May 20th to join
forces with General Ewell at Harrisonburg, and at daybreak next
morning they marched north 17,000 strong. To the troops it ap-
peared that it was to be a return to Winchester. It was not long,
however, before the general had turned the grey column to the
east to disappear behind the Massanutten Mountain, and thence
northward to Front Royal. Again it was proved that Stonewall
Jackson's intentions were never known, even to those close around
him, until he was ready to bear down on his final objective.

At Front Royal Jackson's hard marching veterans, on May
23rd, took Shields unexpectedly in the rear and put him to rout.
Large quantities of rations, guns, ammunition and other military
equipment were taken from the fleeing Yankees.

That night of May 23rd-24th Stonewall Jackson prayed and
planned. General Banks was known to be at Strasburg, a town 12
miles to the west on the Valley pike, towards which the remnants
of Shields beaten command had fled. Jackson's problem now was
how to dispose his troops so that he might, first, destroy Banks at
Strasburg, if he stayed there; or secondly, block any attempt by
Banks to slip out of Strasburg; or thirdly, strike in force his col-
umns if he marched on Winchester (and which appeared to be his
logical move); and fourthly, to move rapidly and overwhelm Banks
at Winchester, if he succeeded in reaching there. Jackson's decision
was to dispose his command so that he would both intercept Banks
and move an Winchester at the same time. To accomplish this plan
one column, headed by Ashby's cavalry, was to move out along the
Front Royal-Strasburg road, turn right at the first junction and
cut across to Middletown, fivie miles north of Strasburg, in the
expectation that this column would intercept Banks on the march.
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In the meanwhile, a column under General Ewell would march by
way of Cedarville over the road that led directly north to Winches-
ter.

Early the morning of the 24th the advance started. The left
column had not advanced far before Ashby's cavalry reported back
that Banks was alDeady on the move out of Strasburg going north
on the Winchester pike. This was good news to Old Jack for he
knew how much better it was t be able to hit him on the move
rather than allow him to get into prepared positions. With an exul-
tant gleam of combat in his eyes, Jackson's only comment was,
"Press on, men - press on!"

Their great leader's fever for combat was contagious, and they
did press on with renewed vigor. Emerging on the Winchester pike
at Middletown, they came upon a clattering, dust-shrouded column
of rapidly moving detachments of field artillery, wagon trains and
escort, forming a part of Bank's 1letreating army. They were headed
down the Valley apparently oblivious to any danger. Bugles sound-
ed the attack and Jackson's advanced detachment swung into ac-
tion. Immediately after the first burst of shells and volley of rifle
fire the road was a mass of struggling and dying horses and riders.
Several hundred Federal troops were hopelessly trapped with their
artillery and field trains, and blinded by the dust, smoke and fly-
ing debris. Those who could untangle themselves fled in every
direction. Bank's column for several hundred yards was cut to
pieces but the major portion of his command was already far along
the pike on the way to Winchester. The Rebels took up the chase
but soon ran into much stronger resistance and the advance settled
down into a tedious, plodding hit and run fight.

Throughout that day and into the night it was a terrible march.
There were hot exchanges with the enemy with every road turn.
Step by step the weary veterans in grey moved along, halting to
take cover and fire, and again moving cautiously forward to the
next point of resistance. Through the darkness would come rifle
fire from every stone fence and clump of trees. Driven out, the
Union troops would steal away to the next obstruction and Desume
their harassing tactics. It was near the midnight hour when one of
the regimental commanders reported to General Jackson. "Sir, my
men are falling beside the roadside from sheer exhaustion and loss
of sleep. Unless rested we will be useless for the main fight in the
morning."

Jackson replied, "Colonel, I yield to no man in my sympathy
for these gallant men, but I am obliged to sweat them tonight that
I may save their blood tomorrow. The line of hills southwest of
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Winchester must not be occupied by Banks tonight. My own troops
must be there before daylight." Then after a pause, he added, "You
shall, however, have two hours rest."

At four o'clock in the morning Jackson had word passed
through the ranks that the men should be aroused for the resump-
tion of the advance on Winchester. A short time later he was in-
formed by courier that Ewell was coming up on the right. By the
time day had broken on May 25th the troops of Stonewall Jackson
were on the crest of the ridge, in the positions he had held upper-
most in his mind the past twenty-four hours. General Bank's ha-
rassed infantry had been denied the high ground and now had to
fight from unfavorable positions. As General Ewell advanced on
the right during the daylight hours and poured a hot fire into
Bank's left flank his positions became untenable. Slowly the Yan-
kees fell back until it became a hand to hand fight through the
streets of the town. On beyond Winchester they drove the now
demoralized Union troops, until after some miles north of the
suburbs the drive began to die a natural death on account of ex-
treme fatigue. About five miles beyond the town the leg-weary
Confederate veterans found it was not humanly possible to go a
step further. They sent out messages for cavalry help, and when
none came some of the more determined endeavoDed to put the
artillery horses to use. But the-animals were as exhausted as the
men, if not more so, and so could not be induced to budge. The
battle was over. There was nothing to do but Deturn and gather up
the spoils, and after that let the worn out troops have their long
deserved rest.

Old Jack was bitterly disappointed when he found out his
troops were incapable of continuing the uninterrupted pursuit of
Bank's beaten army. However, he was quick to realize that it was
impossible to go further for the moment. But it was Sunday and a
most appropriate day for Jackson to issue orders of thanks to all
arms for their sacrifices and direct that religious services be held
throughout the command in appreciation to God for his favors of
the past three days and pray for his continued guidance.

The rest in Winchester was brief for General Jackson had up-
permost in mind General Lee's standing orders, "To press the
enemy towards the Potomac." On the following day he directed
the cavalry to push on, and the infantry columns were soon follow-
ing in the wake of the fast stepping horsemen. For the next three
days the Yankees were vigorously pursued, and when no more of
the blue-coats could be found, demonstrations were made against
Martinsburg, Charlestown, and even as far as Harper's Ferry. In
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short, the enemy was driven completely to, and not merely to-
wards, the Potomac.

But unknown t General Jackson at this time strong Union
forces were gathering back in the Valley under General McDowell.
On May 30th a report was given to him by scouts from Winchester
that General Shields, moving to join McDowell, was at Front Royal,
and that McDowell himself was marching on Berryville, a town
about ten miles east of Winchester. Freemont was moving also
with the probable intentions of making a junction with McDowell
somewhere up the Valley, possibly at Strasburg. If Freemont came
from the Alleghenies to join Shields the two could block his pas-
sage through the area from Front Royal west, while Banks closed
in an his rear. Jackson could see that he had a long stretch of about
45 miles to march o reach Strasburg, while Shields had only 12
miles o go. On the face of it the odds looked to be impossible. But
Stonewall Jackson had done the impossible before and he believed
that his veterans had the ability to pass Strasburg before the Yan-
kees could close in. Or, at least, before they could converge an that
point in such force as to successfully oppose his passage.

At Charlestown at this time Jackson pondered the serious sit-
uation. He was fully aware of the grave danger confronting him
and realized there was nothing to do now except hurry back up
the Valley before the trap was closed. His decision was quickly
made and orders issued. It was not long before troops were being
alerted on all sides and were in formation. Wagon trains were
loaded and soon on the move. The retreat up the Valley was under-
way.

At this hour the Stonewall Brigade, having gone considerably
ahead of other units in the advance towards the Potomac, was mak-
ing its way leisurely back from Harper's Ferry. A courier was
rushed to the brigade forthwith informing the commander of the
perilous situation and urging him to march as he had never
marched before in order to avoid at all costs being cut off from the
main body. If this appeared imminent he was advised to take to the
mountains and escape in small groups. General Jackson felt that
should his army be cut in two the Southern cause itself might fall
& the result. Should he escape the trap, however, it would be on
© Richmond later to share in the defeat of McClellan.

After a grueling all day's march, on the late evening of June
1st, up the road to Winchester came the Stonewall Brigade. The
weary men were all but staggering from the heat and fatigue of
their long march, for they had covered 36 miles since daylight. But
the brigade was intact and had had mo interruption from the Yan-
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kee raiders. They were just in time, however, for Freemont was
now only a stone's throw to the west. The grim veterans never
slackened their pace, and with Ashby's cavalry ranging to their
rear and flanks they felt able to take care of any emergency. To
the great relief of General Jackson his army had escaped the jaws
of the trap and was safe. Later in a letter to his wife, of this criti-
cal hour, he said, "The Yankee hordes thought they had me but
God has been our guide and saved us from their trap."

Stonewall Jackson's army now intact kept on and on, burning
bridges behind them and obstructing the line of march in every
way possible. Banks closely followed along the Winchester pike,
using his pontoons whenever necessary to cross swollen streams.
General Freemont all the while was rapidly closing in from the
region of the Alleghenies. The advance guard and far ranging cav-
alry of both Banks and Fr,eemont gave battle whenever opportuni-
ty offered.

It was now June 6th and nearing the end of another arduous
day's march, harassed continually by the persistent Federal troops.
The 4th Virginia had formed the rear guard since the march start-
ed at daylight and had given intermittent battle to the pursuing
Yankees throughout the day. Ashby's cavalry had appeared on the
scene from time to time to give relief to the hard pressed infantry.
The rear guard was on the road between Harrisonburg and Port
Republic when John Howe saw the fearless cavalry commander,
General Turner Ashby, gallop by at the head of his command to
repel another attack that had been suddenly launched by the
Yankees against the rear guard. There was rapid firing as the
clash developed in the edge of a patch of woods bordering a wheat
field, a few hundred yards to the right rear. A short time later a
trooper was seen leading a riderless horse from the scene of the
firing. The once spirited animal's white coat was dirt streaked and
flecked with blood, its head drooped and it walked with difficulty.
The horse and rider had both gone down under a blast of fire from
the Union advance guard making up the attacking force. When the
white charger was shot from under him, General Ashby jumped
up and ran forward, waving his cavalry saber and calling to his
men to follow him. But the gallant officer did not run far. A bullet
had gone through his chest near the heart. After a few steps to-
wards the enemy he stumbled and fell into the arms of a comrade.

Later they again saw the white horse str,etched out on the
ground dead, its tail and mane almost clipped off by the saddened
troopers who wanted a keepsake of their beloved commander. The
dauntless Turner Ashby had repelled the attack and he paid for
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his heroic charge with his life. But Jackson's army of the Valley
was now safe.

Two days later General Jackson camped across the river from
Port Republic. The situation was still precarious for Shields was
o his way south along the Luray Valley and Frnemont was ap-
proaching along the main Valley of the Shenandoah. There was
o longer any opportunity for Old Jack to disappear around the
Massanutten Mountain. The remaining means of safety was o pre-
vent a junction of the Union armies, and this could be done only
by offensive action. Jackson therewith ordered Ewell to turn back
o Cross Keys, about four miles west, and deal with Freemont
there, while he crossed the river and drove Shields from Port
Republic. Jackson waited until the sounds of cannonading indicated
that General Ewell had opened his attack on Freemont. By two
o'clock in the morning, when he found that Ewell had repulsed the
Union forces at Cross Keys, he was ready to move across the river.
Old Jack found Shields a much tougher opponent than was ex-
pected, and for some time the issue was in doubt. However, the
Federals finally began to give ground when Jackson threw in his
reserves, and a couple of hours later the Yankees were in retreat
from the field, after one of the sharpest and bloodiest battles of the
entire campaign.

Thus Stonewall Jackson successfully dealt with the two
armies that for days had given him some of the most trying
moments of his life. With his trains safely beyond Brown's Gap
he could now move his army of the Valley an over the Blue Ridge
o Charlottesville and form a junction with Lee at Richmond.

In the past two months, with an army that never exceeded
17000 men, Stonewall Jackson had defeated the armies of Shields,
Freemont, McDowell and Banks, one after another. His troops had
marched about 400 miles up and down the Valley and time and
again, when the situation demanded super-human effort, had bro-
ken all records for daily distances covered in forced marching. He
had fought five major battles and almost daily skirmishes, and
captured upwards of 4000 prisoners and enormous quantities of
rations, arms, ammunition and military stores of all sorts. His
deeds sent one thrill after another throughout the Southland and
kindled fresh hope in the hearts of millions. Finally, while accomp-
lishing these brilliant successes he had held the large army of
General McClellan virtually immobilized before Richmond. Truly
never has a military commander in history accomplished o5 much
with o little.

General Lee had earlier written instructions for Stonewall
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Jackson to prepare, when practicable, to bring his army to Rich-
mond. At this stage of his Valley campaign, considering his mis-
sion accomplished as far a practicable and his present position
in respect to Freemont and Shields now favorable, Jackson con-
cluded that the time to reinforce General Lee was at hand. His
movements shrouded in secrecy he set out by train for Richmond to
discuss the move in person at Lee's headquarters and arrange the
details of the disposition of his troops on that front. During his
several days absence the troops camped on the mountainside and
enjoyed their first prolonged rest in many weeks.

The restful sojourn was interrupted a few days later when
Jackson gave the word for the trek out of the hills to Charlottes-
ville. Here the organizations entrained for the meeting with Gener-
al Lee's army on the Richmond front. The stage was now rapidly
being set for greater adventures to come.

The veterans of Company E, now proudly calling themselves
the "Montgomery Highlanders"”, the many weeks of danger and
hardships a thing of the past, were in a joyous mood. Little did
they think, nor care, of the hard campaigns yet to come. John
Thomas Howe, who had progressed through the ranks of his com-
pany from private to non-commissioned officer and lieutenant, was
soon to begin one of his most trying and memorable phases of the
war, a series of battles that was to lead from the Chickahominy,
above Richmond, southeastward to the lower James. Here he was
to go from one desperate see-saw engagement to another, the series
of indecisive and bloody conflicts to be known & the Seven Days
Battles before Richmond. There followed in order: Mechanicsville,
Gaines Mill, Savage Station, White Oak Swamps, and finally Mal-
vern Hill, on July 1, 1862 At the end of the seven days of gruel-
ing fighting McClellan was foroed to withdraw his battered army
from the field of battle, and under the cover of his gunboats at
Harrison's Landing, seek safety down the James River.

Early in July Lee learned that a new Union offensive was
underway in northern Virginia. General Pope, fresh from the
western theatre of war, had taken command and was then in Cul-
peper doing much damage throughout the countryside. Jackson
was ordered to march without delay to the northwest. His com-
mand moved out next day, July 14th, through Ashland to Gordons-
ville. After a concentration here Jackson was to make contact with
Pope near the Rapidan.

General Pope on arrival in Virginia had taken over the com-
mand with an outburst of oratory to the troops about his accomp-
lishments in the west. He was reported to have boastfully said, in
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concluding his introductory address, "My headquarters are in the
saddle." When Stonewall Jackson heard of this he was said to have
smiled grimly a he declared, "I can whip any man who doesn't
know his headquarters from his hindquarters."

The first contact with the enemy came at Cedar Run (ar
Slaughter Mountain), south of the Rapidan, on August 9th. After
a hard fought battle the Federals were forced to retirie across the
river and Jackson's troops rested on their arms while burying the
dead and collecting the spoils of battle. McCliellan was now leaving
his base an the James and moving up the Potomac t reinforce
Pope; and Lee, acting with characteristic daring, dangerously de-
pleted his command to reinforce Jackson. He later departed for
Gordonsville himself to assume command of the combined forces
for the eventual attack on Pope's army. The Union commander took
alarm and moved north towards the Rappahannock, and when
General Lee learned that Pope was being reinforced by troops of
General Burnside he determined to attack immediately before the
Federals became too strong. In accordance with the plan of maneu-
ver Jackson was t avoid a crossing here and make a screened
movement westward up the stream, then turn northward to the
western slopes of the Bull Run Mountains. On arrival back of this
screen he would turn directly east, crossing the range at Thorough-
fare Gap and strie Pope's line of communications along the rail-
road at Manassas Junction, at the same time placing himself be-
tween the Union forces and Washington. It would require a forced
march of almost 30 miles a day for two consecutive days, a most
unusual task for any except the most seasoned troops. It was a
bold plan requiring a feat of marching and precise execution that
could only be entrusted to a commander of Jackson's known ability.
The skill and determination with which the mission was carried
out was to lead to the defeat of Pope at the Second Battle of Manas-
sas.

Of this battle Captain Howe in later life recounted how in
reaching the battlefield they made one of the hardest marches of
their army career, a distance of %4 miles in two days. This was
done on scanty rations, mainly food taken from cornfields along the
way. As was customary on forced marches, the troops were allowed
o rest on their arms ten minutes every hour on the hour and were
bivouacked near the road for only a few hours of sleep nightly.
Many of the men were completely barefooted and others were near
that state. "But we made it," said Captain Howe, and an arrival at
the railroad junction about sundown were well paid for our extra
exertions. There we found piled up in boxes and crates great quan-
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tities of military stores of all kinds, including shoes and clothing,
coffee, sugar, molasses, whiskey, fine wines and brandies and other
luxuries. On this bountiful windfall we quickly fell too and soon
made up for our many past days of near-starvation.”

Before dawn next day, after some preliminary engagements
by advanced elements with scattered Yankee forces, Jackson's
main body was thrown into position along a ridge and was soon
heavily engaged in battle. Later in the day, when battle casual-
ties and fatigue had greatly depleted their ranks, Company H of
the 4th Virginia found itself holding a key section of the railroad
line. Here with ammunition gone the men doggedly held their
ground by using stones from the railroad bed to beat off the on-
coming Yankees.

At the end of the day's fighting Stonewall Jackson appeared
o this part of the battlefield, riding slowly among the troops. He
stopped repeatedly to talk to wounded soldiers and to offer words
of praise and encouragement. One badly wounded young soldier
found along the railroad embankment claimed his special atten-
tion. General Jackson dismounted and went to him to inquire of
his wounds and while offering words of sympathy ask with what
regiment he had fought that day."

"The Fourth Virginia, General, your old brigade," he proudly
replied. "This is the fourth time I've been wounded and it is the
worst, but I hope I'll soon be able to follow you again.”

General Jackson was touched by the young soldier's suffering
and his courage in face of the hardships and dangers he had re-
cently undergone, and he gave orders for immediate care by a
medical officer. A member of his staff was instructed to have an
ambulance report for his use. He laid his hand on the wounded
boy's head as he said, "You are worthy of the Old Brigade, and I
hope with God's blessing you will soon be able to return to us
again."

This young soldier's courage and high morale well exemplified
the spirit of the farm boys of Montgomery and Pulaski Counties
who largely made up the rank and file of the 4th Virginia Volun-
teers.

Following the defeat of Pope at Manassas General Lee was
faced with a difficult decision. The Union forces in northern Vir-
ginia had been weakened and pretty well disorganized. The ques-
tion now was how to take advantage of this favorable situation
before the enemy could strengthen his position by fresh troops,
supplies and equipment that were surely to pour in from Washing-
ton in due time. There were several lines of action open to him.
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The easiest course would be to retire o a strong defensive position
around Richmond. But this was the time for maneuver in open
country and Lee realized that advantage must be taken of the
opportunity. He could march ,eastward but this would bring him
under the guns of the Federal capitol, which was not desirable
under present circumstances. A move to the west would place his
army in the Shenandoah VaUey, and this would isolate his com-
mand in a restricted area where forage and supplies, among his
greatest needs at this time, were exceedingly scarce. His area of
maneuver must be in territory where the poorly equipped and
supplied Confederate army could find unlimited quantities of for-
age and subsistence, s well as the advantages of suitable terrain
for operations against a superior force.

After estimating the several courses of action open to him,
it appearied that an advance northward across the Potomac into
Maryland was, by elimination, the only logical course left to follow.
Such a move offered advantages both strategical and political. The
enemy would be drawn away from his Washington defenses and
with Maryland occupied, Virginia would be freed of the invaders.
From the political standpoint it might furnish the necessary spark
to set off a burst of enthusiasm for joining the Southern cause, and
bring thousands of young men flocking to the Confederate colors.

There were heavy risks involved in a campaign far into enemy
territory but the great advantages to be gained appeared well
worth the expected hazards, and ©© on September 3rd, General
Lee having received the approval of President Davis for a march
into Maryland, set his army in motion towards the Potomac. His
plan was to divert a part of his command to take Harper's Ferry
and gain control of the lower end of the Valley. This would secure
his line of communications back into Virginia by way of the Shen-
andoah. His main force would in the meanwhile cross the Potomac
at one of the fords near Harper's Ferry and branch out in two
columns towards Frederick and Hagerstown. It was presumed that
plenty of ime was available for sizing up the country and gather-
ing subsistence for the men and forage for the animals before any
appreciable Federal force would appear near enough to the scene
o cause a concentration for battle.

It was on September 6th that the leading columns forded the
Potomac and marched up the northern bank with bands playing
"Maryland, My Maryland." The excitement was at fever pitch
among the natives but fow, if any, rushed forward to join the stars
and bars now waving over their land for the first time. General
Lee pushed ahead with the right column and established his head-
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quarters near Frederick.

General McClellan, whom Lee expected to react to the invasion
with his usual deliberate caution, for this once failed to follow his
old standard pattern of action. He accepted the challenge without
delay and bitter fighting soon broke out in the mountain passes
along South Mountain, the range running generally northeast
between Frederick and Hagerstown. General Lee, finding himself
badly outnumbered and his command in danger of being cut in two,
had to recall his scattered forces and regroup west across Antietam
Crieek. Here, an the morning of September 15th, he formed a new
line of battle along the hills o the east of the small town of Sharps-
burg. The new defense line, facing Antiretam Creek and with the
bends of the Potomac to his west and south, while the most favor-
able at hand, was not exactly the ground he would have deliberate-
ly chosen  meet McClellan in a decisive open combat. But it was
a position that must be taken hastily due © the vigorous action of
the past twenty-four hours on the part of the Union commander.

At this hour came the first good news of the campaign. A mes-
sage from Stonewall Jackson, drafted in his personal handwriting,
told of the surrender of the Federal garrison at Harper's Ferry.
Jackson was sent a congratulatory reply and instucted to leave a
suitable holding force and proceed to Sharpsburg without delay.

September the 16th was for General Lee a day marked by
anxiety, waiting and feverish preparations for defense againt Mc-
Clellan's vastly superior force now emerging from the mountain
passes beyond Antietam Creek and taking carefully selected posi-
tions for the attack that was expected momentarily. He waited in
great anxiety over the possible timely arrival of his widely separ-
ated brigades and divisions and the disposal of them in time
meet this Yankee onslaught which was frought with such grave
possibilities.

Late that evening Jackson and Walker rode up to Lee's head-
quarters in Sharpsburg to announoe that their hard marching
troops were only hours behind. Lee congratulated the generals in
person and directed Stonewall to take position on the left (north)
flank. General Walker's command was in much worse shape from
the long march and was allowed a period of rest before taking
position on the extreme right. Only the three divisions of A. P.
Hill, Anderson and McLaws were now absent and Lee felt confident
they would arrive before the battle was fully joined.

Well before daylight of the 17th sporadic fire from the skir-
mish lines announced the approaching general engagement. By
early morning the front was aflame along its entire length. Now
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developed what Captain Howe declared to be the bloodiest battle
of the entire Civil War. All day long the battle raged with the out-
come constantly in the balance. At times it appeared that the poorly
equipped and greatly outnumbered Rebels would be completely
annihilatied. But their dogged determination made up for the
disparity in numbers and at each crucial hour they held on until
the Yankees had to fall back in the face of tremendous 16sses, only
to reform and attack over and over again. The slaughter on both
sides from rifle and close up artillery fire was terrific. Captain
Howe afterwards related how that at one period of the fighting
his company was ordered to charge across a cornfield and drive
the enemy from a piece of timber known as East Woods. On jump-
ing a rail fence they landed on the top of dead bodies and had to
make their way over these dead, both Confederate and Federals,
all the way across the field until they reached the woods several
hundred yards beyond.

When, at 4 p.m., it appeared that the battle-weary Confeder-
ates would finally be driven from the field, General A. P. Hill
arrived with his division from Harper's Ferry. His arrival was
truly in the nick of time. General Hill's men had made a forced
march of 17 miles and were in a state of near exhaustion. But on
being apprised of the gravity of the situation they forgot their sore
feet and empty stomachs and flung themselves into the fray with
renewed life. With this additional firepower Lee's lines steadied,
and held. The Union troops battered in vain and finding no progress
could be made fell back to lick their wounds and await reinforce-
ments, which McClellan now realized were needed to dislodge the
tenacious Southern veterans.

General Lee, with all of his reserves committed, knew that
his only course was an early withdrawal. He remained on the
battlefield, however, until midnight of September 18th-19th when
he withdrew to the south side of the Potomac where he took up
new defensive positions along the hills east of Martinsburg. From
here there were some demonstrations back and forth across river
for the next few days but the main campaign into northern terri-
tory was over. The long trek southward was next in order.

Considering only the major engagement at Sharpsburg, Gen-
eral Lee's forces here numbered some 37000 men. His losses for
this battle were 9550 killed and wounded. McClellan's army num-
bered 87600 and his killed and wounded for that same period of
fighting were 12,410.

As far as the Maryland campaign as a whole was concerned
the results were negative and it could not be said that the campaign
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was a great success. There was some compensation in the great
quantities of military stores and the 11,000 men captured at Har-
per's Ferry. These prisoners duly exchanged made up for Lee's
losses. As for the main engagement at Sharpsburg, judging by
comparative losses Lee had given a good account of himself. Con-
sidering the difficulties of his position his was a brilliant achieve-
ment. It was later said that he took greater pride in Sharpsburg
than any of his other battles. This, because he believed his men
werie faced with the heaviest odds they had ever encountered.

In the early autumn, just two months from the time the Army
of Northern Virginia had started on its campaign into Maryland,
it was back on the Rappahannock. As soon as the main body of his
disorganized army had reached the Peninsular area it was Lee's
task to put his troops back into fighting trim to meet McClellan's
eventual renewal of the campaign. This meant food, rest, refitting
and disciplinary training. His army's greatest need was shoes and
horses. On November 15th more than 6400 men in Longstreet's
command were barefooted.

In the meanwhile Lee's lieutenants were not idle There were
repeated clashes with McClellan's scattered forces in Northern
Virginia. Such actions served to keep him off balance and de
termine his future course of action. From the information gained in
the field, and the fact that Union gunboats were concentrating on
the Rappahannock, it was now evident that Fredericksburg was
McClellan's next goal. At about this time it was also learned that
McClellan had been superseded by General Ambrose E. Burnside.
McClellan was never again to be met on the field of batHe. General
Lee now began to make preliminary dispositions to meet his new
foe on the banks of the Rappahannock.

Before daylight an December 11th, Confederate pickets ob-
served the Federal engineers preparing to throw pontoons across
the Rappahannock at several points above and below the town.
Lee, riding forward to observee, soon had his artillery in action mn
the heights above Fredericksburg, and the first phase of the battle
had begun. Due t the early morning fog the crossings could not
be wholly prievented and soon after daylight several Yankee regi-
ments were across the river. By this time Lee's infantry was strong-
ly entrenched along the heights above the town. Once Burnside had
effocted a crossing in force he began a frontal assault on the Con-
federate lines. Steadily the Union infantry advanced like troops
an dress parade. They were plainly visible from the heights above
the town but not a shot was fired until they had closed the distance
to about 810 yards, when Lee's artillery laid down a terrific fire ma
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the front lines. The Yankees wavered and fell back in confusion
but they reformed to try again. Marye's Heights and the "Sunken"
Road running along its forward slopes provided a death trap. From
covered positions along the Sunken Road the Rebels laid down a
deadly fire that troops however brave could not long withstand.
But the Union troo!)s came on to the attack time and again until
the end of the day brought a halt to the useless sacrifice. Space
does not permit a more detailed account of this battle. Sufficient
to say that Burnside was repulsed with a loss of 10000 men, and
here, on December 13th, ended the campaigns of 1862.

During the first year and eight months of campaigning with
the Stonewall Brigade - a period of marching and fighting with-
out parallel in American history-'-- Captain John Howe, the once
green farm boy, by his qualities of leadership and fortitude in bat-
tle, had continued to advance until he was now in command of his
company. It was the hard way that he earned the title of "Captain,"
by which he was to be known the balance of his life.

The mid-winter months of 1862-'63 proved to be a period of
watchful waiting while both sides augmented their forces in antici-
pation of more desperate encounters surely to come with the first
melting of the snows. Came the first signs of spring and the two
great armies of veteran troops were again on the move in the area
between Fredericksburg and the tangled wildwood to the west,
known as the Wilderness. In a short time Captain Howe was to
take part in one of the most eventful tactical operations of the war.

CHANCELLORSVILLE- A HISTORIC MARCH

The latter part of April, 1863, found the Union army of 60,000
men, now under the command of General "Fighting Joe" Hooker,
maneuvering for position south of the Rappahannock River, and
about 15 miles west of Fredericksburg. At this time General Lee
with his army of about 40,000 battle tried veterans was moving
westward along the highways from Fredericksburg to meet the
invaders. On the night of April 30th the Confederates were biv-
ouacked southeast of Chancellorsville, a town at the gateway to
the Wilderness, with their patrols in sight of the Yankee camp fires
only a few miles distant. It had been learned that General Hooker
had taken a strong position around the southern outskirts of
Chancellorsville, and there was a feeling in the air that a great
battle was in the offing.

All the next day and throughout the night the atmosphere was
tense. Patrolling and preparations went on at a feverish pace. Then
on the morning of May 2nd, the companies of the 4th Virginia had
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Jackson's turning movement against Hooker's right flank, May 2, 1863. Pender and Lane
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lines to reconnoiter the night of 2nd. The Stonewall Brigade was under the command of Gen.
Fitz Lee at this time.
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a before-dawn breakfast, buckled on their equipment and moved
out with the column to the Plank Road, and at the junction turned
westward on the Furnace Road into the Wilderness.

During the night plans had been made for Stonewall Jackson
to march his entire corps of 25000 men around the Union right
and attack Hooker's army from the rear of that flank. General
Lee's decision to retain only 15000 of his original army to face the
Federals might under ordinary circumstances appear to be a most
hazardous one. But Lee had not forgotten Jackson's many brilliant
exploits, and s it is certain he had not the feeling of apprehension
that he might have had had such a bold undertaking been placed
in the hands of a less trusted lieutenant.

Finding a suitable route of march through the apparently
trackless forest had been the hardest nut to crack in planning the
proposed turning movement. The only available maps showed the
road turning south near Catherine Furnace but there were no roads
leading back north. Jackson was a practical and determined man,
and o he refused to rely altogether on maps. He wanted direect
information from the n:itives who knew the Wilderness first hand.
Such a woodsman was eventually found, and to the general's great
satisfaction was able to describe an obscure wagon road that cut
northward through the forest from a point several miles below
Catherine Furnace, and he conducted General Jackson far enough
through the Wilderness to disclose it. It was 0 obscure that even
cavalry patrols had been unable to pick it up. After a personal
reconnaissance the general found he could reach the rear of Hook-
er's right flank after a march of about 12 miles, and most of it over
a little known forest road, ideal for the concealment of such a
perilous maneuver.

The officers and men of Company E marched out with their
usual spirit of gaiety but the light banter gradually gave way to the
silent muffled tramp of worn, dusty boots along the wooded road-
way. The first interruption of the march came on arrival at a
clearing approaching the crossing to a small stream. An alert Yan-
kee battery located on the high ground a mile or more to the
northeast caught sight of the column and opened fire. The first
detachment to be exposed to this fire lost several men with the
initial salvo and was thrown into some confusion. However, those
to follow, on seeing that the fire was not always effective, settled
down to a methodical crossing of the danger area by double-timing
in small groups. When the Montgomery Highlander's turn came
to cross the danger zone the Yankee battery was blazing away at
a great rate but the company took the hurdle a squad at a time and
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without the loss of a single man. Except for the shelling the Union
detachment took no further action against the Rebel movement in
this vicinity, apparently not considering the incident of any par-
ticular significance; certainly not having the momentous conse-
quences that were to be proven by later developments.

The only protracted halt came at noon when arms were stacked
off the road under cover of the woods for a light snack. Jackson's
foot cavalry did not go in for "banquets" or picnic lunches when
engaged in a serious operation. Cold parcels of food were taken
from knapsacks and consumed hungrily, the plain fare helped
down by several gulps from their canteens. Then a brief period of
relaxation with a pipe of tobacco. In less than a half hour the Mont-
gomery Highlanders, completely refoeshed, had shouldered arms
and were again on their way.

By the middle of the afternoon the head of the column had
reached one of the main roads leading directly to the enemy's rear
and excitement mounted. Then came a period of delay for recon-
noitering the Yankee positions, and while the higher command
evaluated the information of the enemy and made a further esti-
mate of the situation. Staff officers and courieers could be seen
dashing excitedly back and forth as Jackson's plans for the attack
were being developed and the deployment of the brigades and regi-
ments progressed at high speed.

The 4th Virginia was ordered to turn eastward along Plank
Road, advance under cover for a certain distance and then deploy
and be prepared to strike the enemy's flank when the bugle signal
was given. Hooker's right flank was now definitely known to be
located on the high ground in the vicinity of the junction of Plank
Road and the Old Turnpike, where much activity among the blue-
coats had been observed and reported by Jackson's scouts and staff
officers during the afternoon.

The thrilling notes of the bugle calling, "To the attack!”,
echoed and re-echoed across the wooded hills as the waning eve-
ning sun was yet some two hours from the horizon. With the dying
notes the veterans in grey plunged forward out of the woods with
Rebel yells, the surprising charge throwing the startled Yankees
into confusion. Of his part in this phase of the battle and the inci-
dents immediately following, Captain Howe, 40 odd years later,
wrt>te:

East Radford, Va.

1905.

"The final movement on General Hooker's right was
completed that evening of May 2, 1863, and our line of battle
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was formed at right angles across the Yankees' southwestern
flank. We moved forward through the thick underbrush, driv-
ing the Dutch (his habitual designation of the Pennsylvania
troops) before ws until they were doubled back on their main
line.

"At dark we rested in line of battle an the crest of a ridge
in an open field. We had stacked arms and scattered about,
gathering up Yankee blankets t make ourselves comfortable
for the night, foeling confident that this was our roosting place.
But we were doomed to disappointment, for suddenly a terrific
fire opened in the woods to our immediate front and we were
thrown in line and ordered forward at double-quick. We were
stopped, however, when we reached the woods and found the
fusillade had entirely oeased.

"The report soon came to ws that General Jackson had
been severely wounded during the firing and had been carried
to the rear. We laid here an our arms until next morning, and
then at early dawn we moved forward through the woods
some Yankee breastworks. Passing these we ascended a hill
that had been partially denuded of timber, and when we
reached the crest were met by a murderous fire which literally
cut s to pieces. The half an hour we held the hill our flag
went down five times. Company E was color company and
John Hodges was color bearer for the day. When he went
down it was taken up by Joseph Henderson, and then by two
others in quick succession who, in turn, were shot down.

"We were then forced to retire a short distance ®© some
breastworks in a hollow. This, by reason of the troops an our
right falling back. While here reforming General "Jeb" Stuart,
who had assumed command in the place of Jackson, rode
around to our position, waved his saber and cried out, "Charge,
boys, and remember Jackson!"

"We did charge, and with such vim that the Yankees were
retiring when we reached the top of the hill. Then the colors
again went down, and o I took the flag myself. Later we filed
out to the main road and an to the Chancellor House. General
Lee and some of his staff were sitting on their horses in front
of the house & we came up. Around the place the carnage was
frightful; gunners and horses torn to pieces and scattered a
round in all kinds of shapes, and other dead and wounded lying
about.

"I now directed the orderly sergeant to detail a color bear-
er and, consulting the roster, he informed me that the next m
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his list was Samuel Shepherd Howe, my younger brother. The
sergeant returned a short time later, however, to tell me Shep-
herd was out on the picket line, and o he didn't take his turn
with the colors a this occasion.

"The next morning I was ordered to command the picket
line, immediately in the front. While employed in the thick
brush and timber, Colonel Pendleton rode up and ordered me
to move the line forward until we developed the enemy's posi-
tion. We did so, and soon coming out an the open hill discov-
ered that the Yankees had recrossed the river.

"I have attempted here o give a brief account of the part
our company play,ed in one of the most historic occasions of the
Civil War; that in which General Stonewall Jackson met his
untimely end."

JOEN T. HOWE,
Captain Co. E,
4th Virginia Reg. CSA.

Captain Howe often told many personal episodes of the battle
he neglected © mention in this written report. One concerned that
point of the attack where they were forced to retire to the Yankee
breastworks. In recounting the episode he described these breast-
works as a series of hastily felled logs piled up and covered over
with dirt and sod, making a very effective covering for the Union
flank. After routing the Yankees from these positions in the initial
attack, Jackson's men took advantage of this cover for rest and
protection before resuming the attack. Captain Howe said that on
first approaching one of these hastily constructed bunkers he found
a Confoderate soldier sitting there with back resting against the
logs. On closer examination he saw the man's shirt was open and
the exposed stomach bore a ghastly wound through which a por-
tion of the soldier's intestines protruded. The severely wounded
soldier was attempting o sew together the ends of the severed
intestine. Fuzzy cheeks and general appearance indicated a youth-
ful farm boy of not over 16 or 17 years of age. The young soldier
had succeeded in getting out his sewing Kkit, threading a needle and
drawing a couple of stitches through the severed ends. His efforts
seemed to have faltered at this point. Captain Howe said further,
"I knelt down by his side to assist and encourage him in this cou-
rageous effort to save his life. When I spoke sympathetically he did
not answer. | pushed back his service cap that had dropped partial-
ly over his eyes and touched his brow to find the youthful soldier
already cold in death.”
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It was not until the next day that Captain Howe learned that
their great commander had been shot by his own men as he was
returning with members of his staff from a reconnaissance of the
enemy positions. Impatient to know first hand what was going m
out front, he had ridden eastward in the ey hours of the night
on the Old Turnpike far beyond the Confederate lines. On return,
about 9p.m., the North Carolina regiments under Lane and Piender,
now only just completing their re-deployment an both sides of the
Turnpike, unaware that General Jackson had gone forward
reconnoitier, challenged and fired on the general and his staff be-
fore they could make themselves known. The firing once started
the Federal troops were aroused to a retaliatory fire and their ar-
tillery shells screaming through the woods added t the din and
confusion.

It was at this stage that Company E was aroused from bivouac
and sent forward on the doubke only to be halted when it was
learned that a night attack by the Yankees was not in progress.

Under the conditions of inky darkness, tangled forest and
general confusion camed by the strafing fire it proved a difficult
task to convey the severely wounded general over the wooded
trails to a place far enough in the rear where adequate first aid
could be administered. This was only a part of the distressing
situation. While artillery and rifle fire rang out through the dark
jungle the corps surgeon must be found and ambulance secured for
transporting the suffering commander out of the dangerous wood-
land and to a field hospital for the major attention his severe
wounds and loss of blood requir,ed.

General Jackson had been struck by three rifle balls; one
lodged in his right hand, another passed through the lower left
amm and a third struck the upper part of his am a few inches be-
low the shoulder joint. The last was the most severe. He had
be assisted from his frightened horse © a reclining position on the
ground. Later he had t be alternately supported and then carried
by improvised litter through the darkness, beset on all sides by
reckless firing until an ambulance could be found for a more
speedy exit from the danger zone. After that there were still sev-
eral miles to cover over perilous mountain roads with ambulance
careening back and forth uncertainly to add t the general's suf-
fering.

On later examination at the field hospital it was found that
the shot through the upper arm had shattered the bone and the
corps surgeon, Doctor Hunter McGuire, had to inform the general
that amputation might be necessary. General Jackson accepted the
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inevitable without complaint and told Doctor McGuire, in whom
he had great faith a well & personal affection, to do @& he thought
best.

After recovering from the first effects of the amputation
General Jackson was moved about 25 miles back of the front
Fairfield, the farm home of Mr. and Mrs. Thomas Chandler, old
friends, where all of the comforts of a private hospital could be
had. Here his wife was able to be at his bedside, and with her com-
panionship and attention and the expert administration of Dr.
McGuire, there followed a pleasant period of gradual recovery
from the ordeal of his wounds and the major operation. For several
days the general was in good spirits. He talked cheerfully of the
prospects of a convalescent period at home and the eventual re-
turn to his old command and, in spite of the loss of his arm, ap-
peared happy and contented with the future outlook.

Then a the night of May 6th General Jackson awoke from a
restless sleep in great pain. He was given first aid of cold and hot
packs but his suffering continued throughout the night. Dr. Mc-
Guire, now constantly at his bedside, observing that the pain was
from the region of the chest, knew that pneumonia had set in. The
exposure, loss of blood and shock were too much for even his hardy
constitution to stand, and day after day he grew progressively
worse. By the third morning of the relapse he was in a state of
delirium a great part of the ime and talked incoherently of past
incidents of battle, muttering commands and instructions to his
old subordinates of the Valley campaign days. On the ,evening of
May 10th, just seven days after the tragic night in the woods, he
passed peacefully away with the last words © those at his bedside,
clearly whispered, "Let us cross over the river, and rest under the
shade of the trees."

The death of Stonewall Jackson was a profound loss o the
Southland. In this critical hour it was a greater loss to Lee, who
sorrowfully said, "I know not how t replace him," and further
expressed himself s hopeful that God would "raise up someone”
in Jackson's place. His worshipful veterans of the Stonewall Bri-
gade were saddened beyond measure, for until the shocking news
of his death they had confidently looked forward to his early re-
turn to lead them a to ever greater victories.

INVASION OF THE NORTH
GETTYSBURG - IN THE HANDS OF THE ENEMY

During the latter part of May rumors were rife that Lee
would soon carry the fight beyond the Potomac. As-an intimation
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that such a coume of action was in the offing, during the first part
of June, "Jeb" Stuart, whose mounted force was now greatly en-
larged and completely reorganized, moved north into Orange and
Culpeper Counties with a great display of cavalry strength, and on
June 5th, engaged a Union force at Brandy Station. Then on June
9th General Lee started his main command moving towards the
north. The veterans of the Stonewall Brigade, now in the command
of Generals Ewell and Jubal A. Early, knew that a great campaign
across the Potomac was under way.

The march was by way of Front Royal to Winchester, which
they reached on June 13th, and there attacked and defeated a Fed-
eral force of 8000 men under General Milroy. The Stonewall Bri-
gade was an the right flank in the pursuit of the Yankees past the
town to Stephen's Depot, about four miles north. Here Milroy
made another stand but the Union troops were put to route to end
the Second (major) Battle of Winchester. After a few days rest
the Confederates made ready to resume the march to the Potomac.

The Montgomery Highlanders (with Ewell's Second Corps)
were in fine fettle as the troops got under way for the long march
northward towards the crossing of the Potomac and the shores of
Maryland. The day brought back memories of those days in Sep-
tember, 1862, when they had first travelled the route that ended in
Maryland with the Battle of Antietam. That campaign, however,
had limited objectives; this was to be an all-out effort, into far
northern territory, until the Union army made a stand, perhaps
somewhere in Pennsylvania, then one more big battle and the war
would be over. Spirits were high in anticipation of a great and
successful venture. This, a well as the natural exuberance of
youth, caused the troops to break lustily into one of their favorite
marching songs as they boldly stepped along. From the head of the
column and down through the ranks there echoed the refrain,-

"Rally around the flag, boys, rally once again,
Shout out the battle cry of free - ee - dam!"”

The farm boys from Southwest Virginia who had marched and
fought together for the past two years were inspired by the thought
that "one more rally" and "freedom" for their sacred soil would
surely be a reality. Boys in years but hardened, battle-proven vet-
erans in warfare, they marched with a carefree determination that
bode ominous portents for their enemies.

On June 16th the Second Corps began its crossing of the Poto-
mac at Shepherdstown. Longstreet's First Corps crossed further
up the river, at Williamstown, where the men could wade the
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strieam with little difficulty. Of the upper crossing, Douglas South-
all Freeman in his Lee's Lieutenants, says, "The crossing was not
without humor. As the long, long columns approached the stream,
the men halted, took off their trousers and shoes, and made these
into bundles which, with their cartridge boxes, they carried an
their shoulders. The hour of their wading the rivier happened to be
that which various Maryland ladies, 'mostly young and guileless’,
had selected for a pilgrimage to Virginia soil. Carriages and col-
umns of half-naked men, going in opposite directions, met in the
stream from which the abashed ladies could not retreat. There
were embarrassed and averted looks, but, as Adjutant Owen of the
Washington Artillery wrote, with as much philosophy as of exag-
geration, '50000 men without their trousers an can't be passed in
review every day of the week."

Once across the Potomac and firmly an Maryland soil the
memories of the men of the Stonewall Brigade again returned to
that inspiring old song they had sung with their last coming, and
the troops with one accord spontaneously broke into "Maryland,
My Maryland." The enthusiasm was contagious and it was not
long before the crowds of spectators that lined the roadway had
joined in. With this added encouragement the men from down the
Valley, Jackson's old "foot cavalry,” swung lightly along to the
singing:

I hear the distant thunder hum,
Maryland, My Maryland!

Sounds the bugle, fife and drum,
Maryland, My Maryland!

She is not dead, nor deaf; nor dumb!

Hurrah! she spurns the Northern scum!

She breathes, she burns - to our aid she'll come!
Maryland, My Maryland!

She did not come, except in spirit. She looked with kindness
o the boys from Virginia but her sons did not join in the crusade.

Time and again bevies of ladies and town folk ran out to greet
the troops and joke and laugh with them & they marched along.
Captain Howe liked especially to talk to the old darkies along the
way and find out their reaction to the war and their new freedom.
On one occasion, observing a very aged, white haired negro man
leaning in the front door of a roadside cabin, using his customary
salutation for unknown elderly colored men, he called out cheerily,
"Hello, Uncle Ned!"

With a light of great expectancy in his eyes, the old colored
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man burst through the front gate and hobbled out among the
troops, crying out excitedly, "Fo' God, who dat know Uncle Ned!"

The Confederate army crossed Maryland without untoward
incident. Lee's march orders, after directing march objectives for
the various columns (tenative and general objectives York and
Harrisburg an the Susquehanna), specified there should be Mo
looting, wanton vandalism a destruction in the way of reprisals;
there would be o unwarranted seizure of private property but all
available supplies, material etc. for the use of the Confederate
army would be taken by proper requisition; and finally, that should
contact with the enemy be made, he especially emphasized that "a
general engagement must not be brought an until all of my troops
are up."

As the advance elements emerged into the rich farm lands of
southern Pennsylvania the troops began gathering great quantities
of cattle, hay, grain and other provisions. Lee's decision to live off
the country promised not only to be a great saving to his own com-
missary but caused the people of the north to feel some of the
economic pinch the Virginians had suffered for © many months
past. By the latter part of June E-well's corps had seized 5000 bar-
rels of flour and 3000 head of cattle for Lee's quartermaster. In
addition a train load of ordnance and medical stores had been
shipped back from Chambersburg.

In the meanwhile "Jeb" Stuart's cavalry was engaged in a
prolonged raid some distance ® the east. He had left his encamp-
ment in Virginia an June 25th, crossed the Potomac far down the
river from Lee's main army, at Rockville, and & he entered Penn-
sylvania proceeded northward burning bridges, tearing up the
railroads and in every way possible disrupting the line of com-
munications between Washington and any Federal forces that
might be o the west, within threatening distance of Lee's north-
ward march. His objective was eventual junction with the advance
columns of the Confederate army somewhere an the Susquehanna.
However, an the other side of the ledger, to offset the advantages
of Stuart's ambitious undertaking, was the fact that he had de-
prived Lee of his valuable services an his immediatee flanks. He
had now been out of communication with General Lee for days,
and m the 28th-29th of June when the situation was developing
towards a critical stage Lee had not his dependable "Jeb" Stuart
nearby to guarantee flank protection, & well & to send him fre-
quent information of the enemy and the periodic location of his
own widely disposed troops, all 0 sorely needed at this time.

At this juncture little knowledge was had of the location,
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strength a intentions of the main Union army, except that gained
through the use of spies and individual couriers. It had been learned
by this means that the Federal army had hurriedly moved north
of the Potomac. It had also been reliably reported that "Joe"
Hooker, against whom they had s recently fought at Chanoellors-
ville and in the Wilderness, was nmo longer their antagonist, but
that while the Union army was in hasty movement northward to
check Lee, the command had been placed in,the hands of General
George Gordon Meade.

On June 29th-30th the dispositions of the main elements of
Lee's army were as follows: (1) General Stuart's Cavalry Corps,
now in the midst of its raid north, was engaged in disrupting the
Federal lines of communication near Union Mills, about 25 miles
east of Gettysburg. (2) Ewell's Second Corps, the northernmost
in the advance of the infantry columns, was between Chambers-
burg and Carlisle. (3) General Longstreet's First Corps was near
Chambersburg, with instructions to follow Hill's route. And, (4
General A. P. Hill's Third Corps was in the vicinity of Cashtown,
a village in the edge of the mountains about eight miles northwest
of Gettysburg.

The morning of June 30th Johnston Pettigrew of Heth's Divi-
sion (Hill's Corps) proceeded towards Gettysburg where he heard
there were ample quantities of fine shoes that could be taken for
his barefooted men. Later in the evening Pettigrew returned to
Cashtown, without the shoes and sorely disappointed, t report
that as his troops neared Gettysburg they ran into Union cavalry
outposts, and that there were indications that other Federal troops
were in the area.

When General Hill heard the story of the illfated expedition
from General Heth he scoffed at the report of Federals in Gettys-
burg in force, saying that he had just returned from Lee's head-
quarters and according to his scouts the main body of the Union
army was far south, and it was probably a small detachment of
cavalry on observation.

"If there's o objection,” Heth answered immediately, "I will
take my division tomorrow and g to Gettysburg and get those
shoes."

"None in the world," General Hill replied. And on these four
words fate hung.

At daylight next morning General Heth started for Gettysburg
with Archer's brigade in the lead followed by Davis' brigade and
Pegram's and McIntosh's artillery battalions. While nothing seri-
ous was expected, General Hill decided to have Fender's division
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follow Heth immediately. About three miles west of Gettysburg a
few Yankee troopers were seen but they quickly withdrew. A bat-
tery of artillery was brought forward, however, © shell the patches
of woods where the patrols had disappeared and wipe out any
Yankee resistance that might be hidden there. On approaching
Willoughby Run, a stream about a half a mile west of the outskirts
of the town, the troops deployed to both sides of the Cashtown
road, Archer an the right and Davis a the left, but before the
right 1legiment of Archer's brigade had completed its crossing
there came rifle fire from the bluecoats located in concealed posi-
tions along the western edge of Seminary Ridge beyond the creek.
The fire quickly grew into a hot fusillade and a furious clash en-
sued. Union artillery joined in and soon were ,exchanging shot for
shot with Pegram's and Mclntosh's batteries. In a short while the
Union troops appeared in superior numbers, completely overlap-
ping the right of Archer's line. In the fighting and confusion that
now ensued General Archer himself fell into the hands of the
enemy. As fate would have it, General Heth's troops had run into
an unusually efficient Union outfit, the Iron Brigade, an organiza-
tion of Michigan and Minnesota troops, tough and hard as the name
implied. They were the type of veteran soldiers that could be count-
ed an © give a good account of themselves under any circumstances
of warfare, and they now proceeded to do so, and during the latter
part of the morning the two confederate brigades welle pretty badly
mauled and mixed up.

At this time General Heth possibly had in mind the earlier
admonition of General Lee, not  bring an a general engagement
until "all of my troops are up.” However, it appeared that mo
choice remained to him except © renew the fight ar quit the field.
This was surely a situation where a bear was being held by the
tail. Neither Lee nor Hill had arrived an the scene, and oo Heth
had o make his own decision. Under the circumstances he had mo
other course but to put more of his troops into the fight and hope
o push the Yankees out of the way without serious difficulty, and
before a major conflict could develop.

It required some time, possibly two hours, before General
Heth had issued orders, made further deployment and was able to
renew the attack, and by this time both Lee and Hill had appeared
on the scene from Cashtown. Heth was again cautioned that a
major battle should not be brought an until all of the Confederate
troops were in position, however, the course of the action was
hardly within his control by this time, and the fighting continued
sporadically.
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Sometime prior to the evening that Heth of General A. P.
Hill's Corps sighted the enemy outpost, Ewell had received orders
from General Lee directing him to change his route of march to
Cashtown, with further implications in the order that he might
wish him to move on to Gettysburg. On June 30th, the evening
Heth was so concerned about shoes for his barefooted men, Ewell's
Corps was proceeding towards Cashtown at the customary rate of
march, completely oblivious to the impending danger towards
which they were marching. After the first clash next morning
couriers arriv,ed from both Lee and Hill telling of the contact with
the enemy. Lee's message directed, and Hill's suggested, that he
march on Gettysburg by the most direct route without delay. Thus
Ewell's Second Corps had now forgotten Cashtown and the leisure-
ly gait of the day before, and while these events were taking place
near Gettysburg during the morning hours of July 1st, the corps
was pressing southeastward at full speed.

It was about 2:30 o'clock in the afternoon when the troops of
Heth's Division noticed considerable activity on their left as though
large bodies of Federal troops were moving in that direction. It
was soon learned that the Federals were shifting northward to
meet some unseen foe. Then came the welcome sound of Rebel
guns and soon word passed through the ranks that Ewell's Corps
was approaching Gettysburg from the north, and that his artillery
was already in action.

Ewell's Second Corps had heard the sound of firing while a
couple of miles from Gettysburg and had prepared for action. As
Ewell's Division and Brigade Commanders drew near enough to
estimate the situation, and to observe the location of Hill's front
lines and the positions of the Union troops, decision was made to
strike the Federals on the right flank. Quickly the columns swung
to the left, marched some distance to the northeast, then turned
south and deployed at approximately right angles to Hill's Corps
and began the advance on the town from the north. The Union
cavalry, driven in with the first approach of Ewell's columns, had
long since apprised the Gettysburg defenders of the danger and it
was not long before the Yankees issued forth from the northern
outskirts of the town in great numbers to meet the advancing
Rebels.

It was at this hour of the afternoon that Captain Howe with
his company of Montgomery Highlanders entered the historic bat-
tle. According to his personal report the Yankees offered stubborn
resistance on the initial encounter but were driven from their
positions after some hard fighting, and then slowly pushed back
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into the streets of the town. Here the Yankees were thrown into a
state of confusio